DIVISION OF URANIUM RECOVERY, DECOMMISSIONING, AND WASTE PROGRAMS GUIDANCE DOCUMENT

(REVISION TO PREVIOUS EPPAD 3.5)

GUIDANCE FOR THE REVIEWS OF PROPOSED DISPOSAL PROCEDURES AND TRANSFERS OF RADIOACTIVE MATERIAL UNDER 10 CFR 20.2002 AND 10 CFR 40.13(a)

Final Draft

Revision 0.1 October 2017

SUBJECT: GUIDANCE FOR THE REVIEWS OF PROPOSED DISPOSAL PROCEDURES AND TRANSFERS OF RADIOACTIVE MATERIAL UNDER 10 CFR 20.2002 AND 10 CFR 40.13(a) – **DATED OCTOBER 16, 2017**

Draft	Date	ADAMS	Description
Rev.		Accession	
#		No.	
0	August 2009	ML092460058	This version of the guidance was the initial draft for interim use and was EPPAD 3.5.
0.1	September 2017	ML16326A063	This draft final revision provides additional information and detail to various sections throughout the guidance, as well as more consistency, clarity, and descriptions for processes, instructions, and bases. It also adds information regarding regulatory documents that have been issued, such as the All Agreement States Letter, various reference documents, and Commission papers.

Revision Notes

DISTRIBUTION: Public

RLGladney	CBarr	DSchmidt	ASchwartzman	Dembek	SPoy
KPinkston	MHeath	ZCruz Perez	PMichalak	DLowman	JColaccino
PPelke	AMcCraw	MRoberts	RPowell	RBrowder	LDesotell
SGarry	MVasquez	HGonzalez	BAbuEid	ADeFrancisco	DBroaddus
MLaFranzo	MKunowski	ASnyder	BWatson	SKoenick	JPark
NForehand	CRoman-Cue	vas			

ADAMS Accession No.	PKG: ML17	229B588	DOC: ML16326A063
FIGURES: MI	17229B589.	ML17229B594.	ML17229B598

		/	/			
OFC	NMSS/DUWP	NMSS/DUWP	NMSS/DUWP	NMSS/DUWP	OGC	
NAME	RGladney	SDembek	CHolston	GSuber	EHouseman	
DATE	11/16/2016	05/03/17	05/10/17	08/07/17	09/05/17	
OFC	NMSS/DUWP	NMSS/DUWP				
NAME	CMcKenney	JTappert				
DATE	09/27/17	10/16/17				

OFFICIAL RECORD COPY

Table Of Contents

1.0	Purpose	6
2.0	Scope	6
3.0	Background	7
4.0	Schedule	
5.0	Responsibilities	
5.1	Project Manager	
5.2	Performance Assessment (PA) Analyst	
5.3	Licensing Assistant	12
6.0	Processing	
6.1	Receipt and Initial Processing	12
6.1.1	Initial Review	12
6.1.2	Tracking Requests	
6.2	Acceptance Review	14
7.0	Safety/Security Review	14
7.1	Dose Assessments	14
7.1.1	On-Site Disposals (§ 20.2002 requests only)	15
7.1.2	Off-Site Burial Disposals	
7.1.3	Reuse or Recycle of Licensed Materials	
7.2	Dose Guidelines	
7.2.1	§ 20.2002 Requests	
7.2.2	§ 40.13(a) Requests	
7.3	Criticality and Physical Security Reviews	21
7.4	Safety Evaluation Reports	21
7.5	Requests for Additional Information	
8.0	Environmental Reviews	23
9.0	Final Documentation	
9.1	License Amendments	
9.1.1	Notice for Opportunity for Hearing	
9.2	Exemptions	27
9.2.1	Exemptions for §20.2002 off-site burial cases	27
9.2.2	Exemptions for §20.2002 reuse or recycle use cases	27
9.2.3	Exemptions for § 40.13(a) Requests	27
9.3	Approval of ADRs	
9.4	Denial of ADRs	
9.5	Withdrawal of ADRs	
10.0	Communications	
10.1	Communication Plans for ADRs with High Public Interest	30
10.2	Determination of the Need for Enhanced Communications	30
10.3	Outreach Measures for Enhanced Communications	
11.0	Coordination	
12.0	Jurisdiction	
12.1	Agreement States	
12.2	Non-Licensees	
13.0	References	

13.1	Code of Federal Regulations	33
13.2	Guidance	33
13.3	Historical Very Low Level Waste Documentation	36
13.4	Other References	37

Figures

Figure 1a	20.2002 Very Low-Level Waste Offsite Disposal Authorization Process
Figure 1b	20.2002 Very Low-Level Waste Onsite Disposal Authorization Process
Figure 2	40.13(a) Very Low-Level Waste Disposal Authorization Process

Examples

These examples are accessible via the Agency-Wide Documents Access and Management System (ADAMS). These examples are provided for reference only. When preparing an approval package for an alternative disposal request, be sure to follow all current laws, guidance, policies, and procedures.

Example 1	Request for Alternative Disposal of Wastes from the Safety Light Corporation Site at the US Ecology Idaho Facility Under 10 CFR 20.2002 (October 28, 2013):
	Approval Letter, Safety Evaluation Report, <i>Federal Register</i> notice, and Environmental Assessment (ADAMS Accession Nos. MI 13263A297
	ML13263A314, ML13263A069, ML13295A688, ML13295A705, ML13296A807)
Example 2	Response to Honeywell Request to Ship Unimportant Quantities (September 21, 2012):
	§ 40.13(a) Approval Letter and Safety Evaluation Report (ADAMS Accession Nos. ML12242A388 and ML12235A303)
Example 3	Request to Dispose of Camp Doha Waste per 10 CFR Part 40.13 (September 13, 2007):
	§ 40.13(a) Disposal Request and Approval Letter with Safety Evaluation Report (ADAMS Accession No. ML072340221)
Example 4	Issuance of Hematite Amendment No. 65 Approving Westinghouse Hematite Request For Alternate Disposal of Specified Low-Activity Radioactive Material and Granting Exemptions to 10 CFR 30.3 and 10 CFR 70.3 (April 29, 2015): § 20.2002 Approval Letter, Safety Evaluation, Environmental Assessment, and Amendment (ADAMS Accession Nos. ML15086A365, ML15086A413, ML15029A064, and ML15086A419)

Abbreviations and Acronyms

ACMUI	Advisory Committee on the Medical Uses of Isotopes
ACRS	Advisory Committee on Reactor Safeguards
ADAMS	Agency-Wide Documents Access and Management System
ADR	Alternative Disposal Request
ALARA	As Low As is Reasonably Achievable
CAC	Cost Activity Code
CFR	Code of Federal Regulations
DCD	Document Control Desk
DUWP	Division of Decommissioning, Uranium Recovery, and Waste Programs
DWMEP	Division of Waste Management and Environmental Protection (previous
	FSME division)
EA	Environmental Assessment
EIS	Environmental Impact Statement
ERB	Environmental Review Branch
EDO	Office of the Executive Director
EPPAD	Environmental Protection and Performance Assessment Directorate
	(previous directorate)
EPID	Ënterprise Project Identifier
FONSI	Finding of No Significant Impact
FRN	Federal Register Notice
FSME	Office of Federal and State Materials and Environmental Management
	Programs (previous office)
LA	Licensing Assistant
LAW	Low-Activity Waste or Low-Activity Radioactive Waste
LLW	Low-Level Waste or Low-Level Radioactive Waste
LLWB	Low-Level Waste Branch
LTR	License Termination Rule
mrem	millirem
mSV	millisievert
OGC	Office of General Counsel
NARM	Naturally-Occurring and Accelerator-Produced Radioactive Material
NEPA	National Environmental Policy Act
NRC	Nuclear Regulatory Commission
NMSS	Office of Nuclear Materials Safety and Safeguards
NRR	Office of Nuclear Reactor Regulation
PM	Project Manager
PA	Performance Assessment
RCRA	Resource Conservation and Recovery Act
SUNSI	Sensitive Unclassified Non-Safeguards Information
SER	Safety Evaluation Report
TAR	Technical Assistance Request
ТВ	Technical Branch
TER	Technical Evaluation Report
VLLW	Very Low-Level Waste
WDTS	Waste Disposal Tracking System

DIVISION OF URANIUM RECOVERY, DECOMMISSIONING, AND WASTE PROGRAMS (Revision to Previous EPPAD 3.5, Final Draft)

1.0 Purpose

The purpose of this procedure is to provide guidance for U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC) staff and describe the process for documenting, reviewing, and approving (on a case-bycase basis) requests received from licensees, license applicants, and other entities for alternative disposal of licensed material. The staff may authorize these requests under the provisions of Title 10 of the *Code of Federal Regulations* (10 CFR) 20.2002 and 10 CFR 40.13(a).

2.0 Scope

This procedure covers the steps that NRC staff need to take in order to review, document, and approve a request for alternative disposal of licensed material, including:

- entering documents into the NRC public document system (Agency-Wide Documents Access and Management System (ADAMS));
- establishing an Enterprise Project Identifier (EPID) and/or Cost Activity Code (CAC) for monitoring time charged to the project;
- conducting a technical review of the disposal request, including performing dose assessments;
- preparing a Safety Evaluation Report (SER) or Technical Evaluation Report (TER);
- preparing an Environmental Assessment (EA);
- coordinating with State regulatory agencies and disposal site operators;
- implementing a Communications Plan, where applicable, including conducting public meetings; and
- implementing the approaches included within the All Agreement States Letter.

The original version of this guidance document (ADAMS Accession No. ML092460058, dated August 31, 2009) was prepared for use by the NRC's Office of Federal and State Materials and Environmental Management Programs (FSME) Division of Waste Management and Environmental Protection (DWMEP) staff. Following the merger of FSME and the Office of Nuclear Material Safety and Safeguards (NMSS),¹ the corresponding division is the NMSS Division of Decommissioning, Uranium Recovery, and Waste Programs (DUWP). This document is being revised in order to update this guidance as well as provide more clarity, consistency, and transparency to the process. Within the NRC, the NMSS Performance Assessment Branch staff within NMSS DUWP are often requested to perform these technical reviews. Accordingly, this guidance has been prepared for use primarily by NMSS DUWP staff. However, since disposal requests are also received by the Regions, the Office of Nuclear Reactor Regulation (NRR), and Agreement States, this procedure has been developed to support those reviews as well.

Although § 20.2002 and § 40.13(a) reviews are similar in most respects, there are a few differences that are described in this document. Where there are differences between the procedures for handling the different types of requests, a sub-section for each type of request is

¹ As noted in NMSS Policy and Procedures 5-1, "Reactor Decommissioning Program Procedures for Interfacing with the Office of Nuclear Reactor Regulation," Revision 3, dated March 31, 2016, this merger occurred on October 1, 2014 as the result of an NRC internal reorganization.

provided. Otherwise, they will be referred to collectively as ADRs.

This procedure does not cover all releases of solid materials from a licensee's control, only those that are submitted for NRC approval under 10 CFR 20.2002 and 10 CFR 40.13(a). The NRC's procedures for release of solid materials are described in NUREG-1757, Vol. 1, Rev. 2, Section 15.11.

3.0 Background

The regulations in 10 CFR 20.1001 state, in part, that the purpose of Part 20 is "to control the receipt, possession, use, transfer, and disposal of licensed material." The disposal mechanisms within the scope of 10 CFR 20.2001 include decay in storage, release into sanitary sewerage, incineration, release in effluents, and use of a land disposal facility. Thus, the term "dispose" in 10 CFR 20.2001 encompasses a variety of disposal methods. As a result of this, and because "disposal" is not otherwise defined in 10 CFR Part 20, NRC staff understands the meaning to encompass discarding, transferring, or destroying.

The regulations in 10 CFR 20.2001 refer to several different disposal methods, including § 20.2002, a provision for "alternative disposal" authorizations. Section 20.2002 is a general provision that allows for disposal methods that are different from those already defined in the regulations. To obtain a § 20.2002 authorization, a licensee or applicant must demonstrate that doses are maintained as low as is reasonably achievable (ALARA) and within the dose limits in Part 20. In practice, § 20.2002 (formerly § 20.304 and § 20.302²) is most often used for burial of waste in hazardous or solid waste landfills that are permitted under Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (RCRA), but it may be used for a method of alternative disposal not already defined in the regulations, such as burial on a licensee's site, burial on off-site private property, and recycle or reuse of materials and equipment. Throughout this guidance, staff uses the term "dispose" or "disposal" in this broad sense, but also may use more specific terms that apply to certain disposal methods (e.g., burial).

The term very low-level waste (VLLW), which is synonymous with "low-activity waste" (LAW), does not have a statutory or regulatory definition, but generally means wastes that contain some residual radioactivity, including naturally occurring radionuclides, which can be safely disposed of without need of the extensive controls in Part 61 to ensure protection of the public health and safety and the environment.³ Although these materials could be disposed of in a LLW disposal facility licensed under 10 CFR Part 61, use of alternative disposal methods under § 20.2002 may reduce overall risk (e.g., risk associated with increased transportation distances and

² Licensee burial of certain quantities of radioactive waste in soil was authorized under the Commission's regulations in 10 CFR 20.304, "Disposal by Burial in Soil" on January 29, 1959 (22 FR 548). The NRC's regulations did not require that licensees obtain NRC's prior approval for these burials. On January 28, 1981, the Commission concluded that it was inappropriate to continue generic authorizations of burials pursuant to 10 CFR 20.304 without regard to factors such as location of burial, concentrations of radioactive material, form of packaging, and notification of NRC, and as a result, NRC rescinded 10 CFR 20.304 (45 FR 71761). After January 1981, licensees were only authorized to dispose of radioactive material under 10 CFR 20.302, "Obtaining Approval for Disposal of Very-Low-Level Radioactive Waste," which required NRC's prior approval. The NRC later revised this regulation, which is currently 10 CFR 20.2002.

³ SECY-06-0056, enclosure 2, included: "[a]Ithough most of the radioactivity in LLW generated by NRC licensees is disposed in facilities licensed under Agreement State regulations compatible with and/or similar to Part 61, 10 CFR 20.2002 continues to be available for use by licensees for wastes that are a small fraction of the Class A limits contained in Part 61, for which the extensive controls in the [sic] Part 61 are not needed to ensure protection of the public health and safety and the environment."

associated radiological and non-radiological impacts) and may preserve disposal capacity at LLW disposal facilities for higher risk waste streams, while maintaining adequate protection of public health and safety and protection of the environment.

The NRC regulatory framework requires possessors of radioactive materials to have a license governing such possession or to be exempted from licensing requirements (e.g., §§ 30.11(a), 40.14(a), and 70.17(a)). For off-site disposals, the NRC or the Agreement State issues an exemption from the requirement for a license for possession of the radioactive material by the off-site facility, in conjunction with the § 20.2002 authorization. For cases where material is recycled or reused, NRC or the Agreement State issues an exemption for any person who possesses or uses the material in the future. On-site § 20.2002 disposal approvals by the NRC remain under license and must be addressed by licensees as part of the decommissioning of the facility to ensure that when the license is terminated, the site meets the criteria in the license termination rule (LTR) in Subpart E of 10 CFR Part 20. NUREG-1757, Rev 2, "Consolidated NMSS Decommissioning Guidance," addresses in greater detail the unique considerations for on-site disposal.

The regulations in 10 CFR 20.2002 require that the following be included in the applications:

- A description of the waste containing licensed material to be disposed of, including the physical and chemical properties important to risk evaluation, and the proposed manner and conditions of waste disposal;
- b) An analysis and evaluation of pertinent information on the nature of the environment;
- c) The nature and location of other potentially affected licensed and unlicensed facilities; and
- d) Analyses and procedures to ensure that doses are maintained ALARA⁴ and within the dose limits in this part.

With regard to discrete sources of Ra-226, the Energy Policy Act of 2005 (EPAct) expanded the Atomic Energy Act of 1954, as Amended (AEA), definition of byproduct material to include discrete sources of Ra-226 that are used for "commercial, medical, or research activity."⁵ The regulations in 10 CFR 20.2008 include provisions for the disposal of discrete sources of radium (i) in a low-level waste disposal facility or (ii) at a disposal facility authorized to dispose of such material in accordance with any Federal or State solid or hazardous waste law (e.g., a RCRA Subtitle C disposal facility). Disposals of discrete sources of Ra-226 under § 20.2008 do not require prior approval by the NRC and are outside of the scope of this guidance.⁶

⁴ The regulations in 10 CFR 20.1003, "Definitions," define "ALARA" ("as low as is reasonably achievable") as "making every reasonable effort to maintain exposures to radiation as far below the dose limits in this part as is practical consistent with the purpose for which the licensed activity is undertaken, taking into account the state of technology, the economics of improvements in relation to state of technology, the economics of improvements in relation to benefits to the public health and safety, and other societal and socioeconomic considerations, and in relation to utilization of nuclear energy and licensed materials in the public interest."

⁵ The regulations in 10 CFR 20.1003, "Definitions," provide definitions for "discrete source" and "byproduct material." "Byproduct material" is defined later in this guidance document and in the regulations. The NRC has defined a "discrete source" as "a radionuclide that has been processed so that its concentration within a material has been purposefully increased for use for commercial, medical, or research activities." Discrete sources of Ra-226 and naturally occurring radioactive material (other than source material) are referenced and included within the definition for byproduct material.

⁶ Section 651(e)(3)(A) of the EPAct (§11e.(3) of the AEA; 42 U.S.C. 2014(e)) amended the definition of byproduct material to include "any discrete source of radium-226 that is produced, extracted, or converted after extraction, before, on, or after [August 8, 2005] for use for a commercial, medical, or research activity." On November 30, 2007, the NRC implemented this provision of the EPAct by amending the definition of byproduct material in 10 CFR Parts 20, 30, 50, 72, 150, 170, and 171 to be consistent with the EPAct in the final rule "Requirements for Expanded

The regulations in 10 CFR Part 30 apply to byproduct material. The regulation in 10 CFR 30.3 provides requirements for obtaining a license for byproduct material. The regulation in 10 CFR 30.11(a) states that the Commission may, upon application of any interested person or upon its own initiative, grant exemptions from the requirements of the regulations in Part 30-36 and 39 as authorized by law, and upon determination that the exemptions will not endanger life or property or the common defense and security and are in the public interest.

For cases of recycle or reuse of byproduct material with concentrations within the exempt concentration values of 10 CFR 30.14, "Exempt Concentrations," there is the potential that alternate disposition may be evaluated either under § 20.2002 or under 10 CFR 32.11, "Introduction of byproduct material in exempt concentrations into products or materials, and transfer of ownership or possession: Requirements for license." One requirement for applications for an exempt distribution license, under §32.11(b), is that the applicant describe the intended use of the byproduct material. Most cases of a licensee proposing alternate disposition by reuse or recycle would involve material or equipment into which the introduction of byproduct material was incidental or unintentional (e.g., residual contamination). NRC staff considers it unlikely that byproduct material that was incidentally or unintentionally introduced into a product or material would have a functional purpose or intended use.⁷ NRC staff will not approve exempt distribution licenses if there is not an intended use of the byproduct material. Thus, licensees should not apply for an exempt distribution license as the means to obtain approval of an alternate disposition method unless the licensee can describe the intended use of the byproduct material (i.e., taking advantage of the radioactive, physical, or chemical properties of the radioactive byproduct material) and satisfy all other criteria in § 32.11 for an exempt distribution license. Additional guidance on the evaluation of applications for an exempt distribution license can be found in NUREG-1556, Volume 8, "Consolidated Guidance About Materials Licenses: Program-Specific Guidance About Exempt Distribution Licenses."8

The regulations in 10 CFR Part 40 "establish procedures and criteria for the issuance of licenses to receive title to, receive, possess, use, transfer, or deliver source and byproduct materials, and establish and provide for the terms and conditions upon which the Commission will issue such licenses."⁹ The regulation in 10 CFR 40.3 provides requirements for obtaining a license for source material. The regulation in 10 CFR 40.14 states that the Commission may, upon application of any interested person or upon its own initiative, grant exemptions from the requirements of the regulations in Part 40 as authorized by law, and upon determination that the exemptions will not endanger life or property or the common defense and security and are in the public interest.

In addition, the regulations in 10 CFR 40.51(b)(3) apply to transfers of licensed source material to any person exempt from the licensing requirements of the AEA, and regulations in Part 40, to the extent permitted by the exemption. The regulations in 10 CFR 40.13 allow for exemptions from the licensing requirements for certain materials containing uranium and thorium that are referred to as "unimportant quantities." One of these exemptions, § 40.13(a), is for "chemical

Definition of Byproduct Material" (72 FR 55864; October 1, 2007), which is referred to as the Naturally-Occurring and Accelerator-Produced Radioactive Material (NARM) rule.

⁷ See the NRC letter dated January 7, 2000 (ADAMS Accession No. ML003675924)

⁸ NMSS Administrative Policy & Procedure 1-9, "Administrative and Technical Review of Applications and Annual Reports for Exempt Distribution Licenses," is an internal NRC procedure that contains additional information regarding exempt distribution licenses.

^{9 10} CFR 40.1, "Purpose."

mixtures, compounds, solutions, or alloys" in which the source material is by weight less than 0.05 percent. Section 40.13(a) exempts any person from NRC licensing requirements "to the extent that such person receives, possesses, uses, transfers, or delivers source material in any chemical mixture, compound, solution, or alloy in which source material is by weight less than one-twentieth of 1 percent (0.05 percent) of the mixture, compound, solution, or alloy." The 0.05 percent by weight limit was chosen on the basis of concentrations of source material that are necessary to be a useful source of fissionable material. Therefore, 10 CFR 40.51(b)(3) provides licensees a mechanism for transfer of unimportant quantities of source material, which are exempt from licensing under 40.13(a). For consistency, these requests will be referred to as 10 CFR 40.13(a) requests or ADRs.

The regulations in 10 CFR Part 70 establish procedures and criteria for the issuance of licenses to own, acquire, deliver, receive, possess, use, and transfer special nuclear material; and provide the terms and conditions upon which the Commission will issue such licenses.¹⁰ The regulation in 10 CFR 70.3 provides requirements for obtaining a license for special nuclear material. The regulations in 10 CFR 70.17 state that the Commission may, upon application of any interested person or upon its own initiative, grant exemptions from the requirements of the regulations in this part as authorized by law, and upon determination that the exemptions will not endanger life or property or the common defense and security and are in the public interest.

4.0 Schedule

The level of effort required for the review should be commensurate with the risk, safety, and security significance, and as well as the complexity, associated with the request. It is anticipated that a request for alternative disposal will take several months to complete if it is not considered unusually complex. Simple requests may have shorter review periods, but more complex requests, such as those that require Requests for Additional Information (RAIs) (see Section 7.5) and/or enhanced stakeholder interactions (see Sections 10.2 and 10.3) could take significantly longer.

Examples of situations in which a regulatory action may be considered complex include: (1) it is a first of a kind; (2) it is especially voluminous; (3) it involves a large number of branches in the review (i.e., it will require extensive coordination to determine scope for each branch and development of the evaluation); (4) it will require Advisory Committee on Reactor Safeguards (ACRS) (or another advisory committee, such as Advisory Committee on the Medical Uses of Isotopes (ACMUI)) review; (5) it relates to an unresolved generic issue; (6) it involves issues with parameters that have a limited margin of acceptable values; or (7) the initial schedule developed, if not related to lack of resources, indicates the review will take longer than 1 year.

5.0 Responsibilities

5.1 Project Manager

The role of the NMSS Project Manager (PM) in the process is to manage the NRC's review of the ADR, either by performing the review (for instance, see Section 8) or by coordinating the reviews performed by other NRC staff. The PM is principally responsible for both the technical and administrative quality of all documents. The PM also ensures that the guidelines in the regulation, this document, and the NRC's Principles of Good Regulation are adhered to

^{10 10} CFR 70.1, "Purpose."

throughout the process, and PMs and technical staff are jointly responsible for ensuring that the NRC's goals are met.

The PM will coordinate among all external and internal parties involved in the disposal request and its reviews, including any affected States. The PM is responsible for ensuring agency procedures for documentation and meetings are completed. The PM will maintain the relevant documents for ready access by the technical staff and will be responsible for transmitting information to and from the licensee or applicant and the technical reviewers. The PM will keep management updated on the status of the review of the disposal request. The PM is also responsible for working with the licensing assistant (LA) and other staff as applicable in order to open EPID numbers to ensure fee recovery and allow for tracking of the work activities.

If the PM receives incoming documents from the licensee or applicant, the PM will ensure they have been placed into ADAMS, as applicable. The PM is responsible for setting up and conducting meetings with licensees, including providing opportunities for public participation as necessary. When appropriate, the PM will develop a public meeting notice, to be posted on the external NRC website prior to the meeting date, as well as a public meeting summary following it.

Briefings related to a specific facility are typically handled by the PM for that facility with support from technical staff. Depending on the complexity of the review, the PM may need technical assistance from various technical reviewers in various areas, including environmental assessment, criticality, transportation, security, and dose modeling. If it is determined during the review that RAIs are required, the PM is responsible for evaluating and transmitting RAIs to the licensee or applicant.

Allegations regarding a specific request are to be referred to the appropriate Allegations Coordinator for action.

5.2 Performance Assessment (PA) Analyst

Technical staff who review dose modeling aspects of § 20.2002 or § 40.13(a) ADRs are typically selected from the PA Branch (PAB) of DUWP. The PA analyst is responsible for conducting a technical review of the licensee's ADR in accordance with the guidance in this procedure, and ensuring that radiation exposures to members of the public are within the dose limits established by the NRC (see Section 7). Specifically, the PA analyst will perform the following:

- An acceptance review and a technical review of the licensee's dose assessment and associated documents will be conducted, including review of technical reports, and/or review of the development and implementation of conceptual and mathematical models to assess radiological impacts relating to the disposal. The dose assessment could include evaluation of radiological impacts to members of the public, including transportation workers, resulting from the transport of radioactive materials to a disposal facility or other location, or to a disposal facility or other worker at the receiving facility or site. For some types of disposals, the dose assessment could include unique exposure scenarios and pathways related to the reuse or recycle of the material not related to disposals involving burial of material.
- In conducting the analysis, the analyst should use a risk-informed, performance-based approach, focusing on those aspects of the review that are expected to have the greatest effect on the results. Sensitivity analysis could be conducted or consulted to help inform the analyst's review.

- The analyst may be asked to provide information to support the environmental review, in addition to the safety review, and should be cognizant of how the review results will be integrated into the overall evaluation and decision-making process.
- The analyst should document their findings, usually in the form of a TER or by simply providing informal SER input to the PM. The analyst should confer with the PM, at the initial stage of the technical review, on the form or type of document needed. The TER usually provides the main content of the SER. A TER needs to describe the nature of the technical review, specifically what the analyst reviewed, and a basis for why the analyst finds the analysis to be acceptable or unacceptable. The documentation of the analyst's findings should be reviewed by the PA Branch Chief prior to providing it to the PM. All Branch Chiefs whose staff contribute significantly to the SER will review and concur on the SER, including the PA Branch Chief. Accordingly, the plan for the technical review needs to allow time in the schedule for the SER reviews.
- The PA analyst also supports meetings with licensees to address dose modeling and other aspects of the technical review. The analyst is expected to take the lead during parts of the meeting related to their technical review area.

5.3 Licensing Assistant

LAs provide overall support for the ADR process, including, but not limited to, reviewing documents for editorial requirements and fulfilling other responsibilities described in this document. In addition, upon receipt of a § 20.2002 or § 40.13(a) ADR from a licensee or applicant and its assignment to the responsible office or region, the LA will work with the PM, time and labor coordinator, and applicable staff to obtain an EPID number (and/or CAC if required) for the request, as applicable. EPIDs and CACs provide a means of tracking the work and billing, and as such, should be linked to the initial letter with the ADR from the licensee or applicant.

6.0 Processing

6.1 Receipt and Initial Processing

The following sections provide information to be considered when the ADR is received.

6.1.1 Initial Review

NMSS has the overall lead responsibility for the NRC alternative disposal request review process. In particular, NMSS will perform the review and approval of requests by materials licensees and for requests from decommissioning of shutdown reactors after they have been transitioned from NRR to NMSS. However, other offices also conduct alternative disposal request reviews, and regions may also submit Technical Assistance Requests. For instance, the NRR Division of Operating Reactor Licensing (DORL) will coordinate all reviews within NRR, and the Radiation Protection and Consequence Branch (ARCB) within the Division of Risk Assessment (DRA) of NRR will conduct technical reviews for operating reactors and shutdown reactors until transferred to NMSS. NRC staff should consult NMSS Policy and Procedures 5-1, "Reactor Decommissioning Program Procedures for Interfacing with the Office of Nuclear Reactor Regulation," and NRR Office Instruction COM-101, "NRR Interfaces with NMSS," for additional information and for roles and responsibilities for reactors that are in transition from

NRR to NMSS.¹¹

Licensees, applicants, and other entities should submit the original document(s) in accordance with NRC regulations and guidance. They may be submitted by mail or electronically. This also applies to supplements to the ADR (e.g., responses to RAIs). This document should be placed into ADAMS and distributed according to the distribution established by the PM.

The PM and technical staff will also review the submittal for the presence of any sensitive unclassified non-safeguards information (SUNSI), which includes proprietary information and security-related information. SUNSI requires special handling in accordance with applicable regulations and processes. As a part of the review, the PM and the technical staff will review the information to determine if they agree with the licensee's justification and determine whether any information should be withheld. Specific information on NRC's procedures for handling SUNSI can be found in Management Directive 12.6, "NRC Sensitive Unclassified Information Security Program," and in applicable NMSS guidance.¹² Normally, disposal requests do not contain proprietary information.

Licensees and applicants should submit the original document(s) in accordance with the applicable regulatory requirements. For instance, 10 CFR 20.1007 provides several options for submittal of documents regarding 10 CFR Part 20.

PMs will ensure that a copy has been placed into ADAMS.¹³ As appropriate, the Document Control Desk (DCD)¹⁴ will docket the document and distribute it according to the internal distribution established by the PM. To facilitate processing, the PMs may also request that a licensee or applicant also submit a copy directly to the PM, along with an original submittal sent to the DCD.

6.1.2 Tracking Requests

The Waste Disposal Tracking System (WDTS), which was initially developed by the FSME Division of Waste Management and Environmental Protection (now DUWP in NMSS) and is no longer maintained, was created to track § 20.2002 requests.¹⁵ This database included a listing of requests from 1981 to 2006. Future requests and associated documentation should be entered into ADAMS with the appropriate profiles ("20.2002 Requests" or "40.13(a) and 40.51(b) Requests") so that they can accessed and tracked, and the PM should ensure that this has

¹¹ NMSS Policy and Procedures 5-1, Reactor Decommissioning Program Procedures for Interfacing with the Office of Nuclear Reactor Regulation, Revision 3, dated March 31, 2016, and NRR Office Instruction COM-101 can be used to enhance the NRC staff oversight of the decommissioning of the nuclear power reactors and research and test reactors as they transition from reactor operation to decommissioning. Both of these documents are internal procedures that are non-public. ¹² Previously, this was DWMEP Procedure 1.9, Section 1.9.5, "Handling Sensitive Information."

¹³ Management Directive 3.53, "NRC Records and Document Management Program" and other applicable guidance provides information that should be utilized. ¹⁴ The regulations provided within 10 CFR 20.1007, 10 CFR 30.6, 10 CFR 40.5, and 10 CFR 70.5,

[&]quot;Communications," and 10 CFR 50.4, "Written Communications," provide information on how applications filed under applicable regulations may be submitted to the Commission.

¹⁵ A memorandum from DWMEP to NRR and the Regions (ML060180325) has instructions for use of the WDTS, including inputting data, when the database was used. The database is on the NRC internal webpage at http://papaya.nrc.gov/NMSS/WDTS/home/login.cfm. In the future, 20.2002 reviews may also be captured in other databases to be developed.

been performed.¹⁶

6.2 Acceptance Review

After the PM requests an EPID number and as soon as practical following receipt of the ADR, the PM and the technical staff will perform an acceptance review. The acceptance review will typically include, but shall not be limited to: (1) an evaluation of the sufficiency of the disposal request to address the criteria in § 20.2002 and/or § 40.13(a), including associated guidance; and (2) a determination that there are no significant technical deficiencies that may preclude completion of the safety evaluation report and environmental review (see Sections 7 and 8). The acceptance review should be completed within 30 working days. The objective of the acceptance review is to verify that the ADR contains sufficient information before the staff begins an in-depth technical review. Following the acceptance review, the PM will send a letter to the licensee acknowledging the start of the review. In addition, the NRC staff should review the justification for proprietary information (see Section 6.1.1) as soon as practical.

Licensees and applicants may include the information listed below in their ADRs, which may not be explicitly listed in 10 CFR 20.2002. For example, some of the following items may be useful for NRC staff in preparing the Safety Evaluation Report and Environmental Assessment:

- Requested issuance date;
- Requested implementation period;
- Discussion of whether the submittal includes any regulatory commitments;
- Discussion of environmental considerations; and
- Discussion of whether the submittal is based on precedent.

7.0 Safety/Security Review

7.1 Dose Assessments

The PA analyst will review the dose assessment(s) provided by the licensee as part of their ADR, considering guidance provided in NUREG-1757, Volume 2, "Consolidated Decommissioning Guidance – Characterization, Survey, and Determination of Radiological Criteria - Final Report." Specifically, guidance in Chapters 5 and Appendix I provide information on conducting dose assessment reviews, and Appendix J provides guidance specifically related to burials. NUREG-2175, "Guidance for Conducting Technical Analyses for 10 CFR Part 61," and NUREG-1573, "A Performance Assessment Methodology for Low-Level Radioactive Waste Disposal Facilities," may also be consulted for guidance on performing dose assessment reviews for disposals involving burial of radioactive material. Specific acceptability of licensee approaches will depend on the alternative method of disposal requested.

At a minimum, the analyst will ensure that the description of the site conceptual and mathematical models, source term, and parameters used in the licensee's dose assessment are appropriate for the alternative method of disposal requested. In some cases, the applicant may provide screening, or other types of bounding arguments or analyses that do not necessitate development of site- or problem-specific assessments, nor use of sensitivity and uncertainty analyses. In those cases, the analyst should ensure that conditions are consistent with or bounded by the underlying assumptions in the screening analyses used to estimate radiological

¹⁶ SECY-07-0180, "Strategic Assessment of Low-Level Radioactive Waste Regulatory Program," listed Task 10, "Develop and implement national waste tracking system," as one of the low priority tasks that may be completed as resources allow. VLLW associated with ADRs will be considered for inclusion in this tracking system.

impacts to members of the public and demonstrate that the radiological criteria in Section 7.2 are met. Depending on the complexity of the request, the analyst may need to review or perform sensitivity and uncertainty analyses to provide confidence that the potential dose from the disposal is not underestimated.

Approaches outlined in previously-approved disposals and/or other technical reports, such as NUREG-1640, "Radiological Assessments for Clearance of Equipment and Materials from Nuclear Facilities," and NUREG-1717, "Systematic Radiological Assessment of Exemptions for Source and Byproduct Materials," for similar materials and site conditions can be used to provide support for the proposed approach and calculations being used to assess doses associated with specific sites and specific exposure scenarios. However, when considering these previously approved approaches and guidance, it is important to consider the intent for which the original documents were developed. For instance, NUREG-1640 was originally developed to support rulemaking efforts and was not intended to be used as a reference document with scenario-specific parameter values that could be used in place of site-specific parameter values. Therefore, although the exposure scenarios may be relevant and applicable to the disposal options being considered, specific parameter values published with these scenarios may not be accurate and require further justification by the licensee beyond simply referencing the scenarios documented in the report. The analyst should note where the assumptions in previously approved disposals and technical reports differ from the actual ADR and how this was accounted for in the licensee's and/or NRC's analysis.

7.1.1 On-Site Disposals (§ 20.2002 requests only)

Licensees may request approval of onsite disposals during the course of operations prior to decommissioning and license termination. In these cases, the dose from on-site disposals will be included in any future dose evaluations for license termination. The contributions to potential dose to the average member of the critical group from all sources of residual radioactivity remaining at the site, including any on-site disposals, must be considered in demonstrating that LTR criteria are met.¹⁷

To ensure consistency with future dose modeling to demonstrate compliance with radiological criteria for license termination, the licensee may choose to develop site-specific scenarios and models following guidance in NUREG-1757, Volume 2, when evaluating the potential dose associated with on-site disposals (e.g., see Appendix I, "Technical Basis for Site-Specific Dose Modeling Evaluations," and Appendix J, "Assessment Strategy for Buried Material").

Guidance provided in NUREG-1757, Volume 1, Section 15.12 indicates that NRC's current practice is to approve requests for onsite disposal that result in doses not exceeding a "few millirem" per year consistent with SRM-SECY-06-0143. The NRC will also consider requests for onsite disposals, using dose criteria other than a few millirem per year; however, ADRs with projected doses significantly greater than a few millirem per year should be carefully reviewed to ensure that the benefit of approval outweighs the risk of creating a future legacy site. Section 15.12.2.1 goes on to state that a "few millirem" per year, total effective dose equivalent. Since, at the time of license termination, there may be multiple sources of residual radioactivity, including onsite disposals, constraining doses from onsite disposals to a few millirem per year will help increase the likelihood that the entire site will meet the LTR criteria without the need for remediation of the onsite disposal. Requests for onsite disposal should consider the doses from

¹⁷ Guidance on consideration of cumulative dose impacts is provided in Appendix K of NUREG-1757, Volume 2.

all previous onsite disposals. Thus, the few millirem per year dose criterion applies to the cumulative dose from all previous onsite disposals, although the doses from each of the disposals does not necessarily need to be summed (e.g., if the areas are not co-located or along the same flow path, it may not be necessary to sum the doses from each of the disposals).

In most cases, because doses from on-site disposals are expected to be a small fraction of the dose limit for unrestricted use of a site found in § 20.1402, the analyst does not need to consider potential dose from radon from source material, byproduct, or special nuclear material, consistent with the statements of consideration for the LTR found in Subpart E of 10 CFR Part 20 (62 FR 39083; July 21, 1997).¹⁸ Likewise, in most cases, on-site disposal analyses should be calculated to peak dose within 1,000 years of the expected date of license termination of the facility, consistent with regulations in the LTR in Subpart E of 10 CFR Part 20. If controls are in place to limit receptor activities and access that may otherwise result in exposure from the onsite disposal, the licensee may be able to take credit for radioactive decay up until the expected date of license termination.

7.1.2 Off-Site Burial Disposals

Licensees or applicants may request approval of off-site disposals at a disposal facility permitted by a State or Federal agency that is not a low-level waste disposal facility. Although 10 CFR 20.2002 does not specify a dose limit, as stated above, guidance in NUREG-1757, Volume 1, references "a few mrem" (or 0.05 mSv (5 mrem) per year) as one potential guideline for onsite disposals. While NUREG-1757, Volume 1, refers specifically to onsite disposals, 0.05 mSv/year (5 mrem/year) may be and has previously been used as a benchmark for offsite disposals. Nonetheless, acceptable values for the dose may vary based on unique scenarios for both onsite and offsite disposals and are evaluated on a case-by-case basis.

With respect to the exposure scenarios that should be evaluated for offsite burial disposals, guidance provided in NUREG-1757, Volume 2, Appendix I, "Technical Basis for Site-Specific Dose Modeling Evaluations," and Appendix J, "Assessment Strategy for Buried Material," can be used for evaluation of § 20.2002 requests for off-site disposals. For modeling disposal in waste facilities, additional guidance found in NUREG-2175, "Guidance for Conducting Technical Analyses for 10 CFR Part 61," and NUREG-1573, "A Performance Assessment Methodology for Low-Level Radioactive Waste Disposal Facilities," may also be used. For waste disposal facilities, timeframes specified in NUREG-2175 for performance assessment should be used for evaluation of a 10 CFR 20.2002 request, unless other timeframes have been appropriately justified in a licensees' submittal.

The analyst should ensure that potential exposure groups are evaluated for each stage of the off-site disposal, such as workers transporting radioactive materials to the disposal facility, and disposal workers at the receiving site. The Division of Spent Fuel Management within NMSS may be able to assist with the transportation assessment, if needed or determined to be appropriate. NUREG-1640, "Radiological Assessments for Clearance of Materials from Nuclear Facilities," and NUREG-1717, "Systematic Radiological Assessment of Exemptions for Source and Byproduct Materials," may be leveraged to assess potential dose to members of the public

¹⁸ The statements of consideration for the LTR indicate that due to the impracticality of distinguishing between naturally occurring radon and radon resulting from licensed activities, the licensee does not need to demonstrate that radon from licensed activities is indistinguishable from background.

from various exposure scenarios, including dose to a worker transporting the radioactive materials or dose to a disposal worker at the disposal facility, or other exposure scenarios.

Both on- and off-site receptors should be considered in dose assessments for waste disposal facilities. The analyst may initially use simple methods to scope or bound the problem and then use more sophisticated approaches, if necessary. Radon from source, byproduct or special nuclear material should be considered, as appropriate, for off-site disposals.

The following general guidelines should also be considered in evaluations related to offsite disposals in a waste disposal facility:

- Dose assessments should consider transport of the material to the disposal facility and evaluate dose to members of the public, including transportation workers. In several cases, dose to the transportation worker resulted in the highest dose based on evaluation of a number of exposure scenarios for disposal of contaminated soils and other materials to RCRA disposal facilities (see, for example, the 10 CFR 20.2002 disposal request to send contaminated soils from Aberdeen Proving Ground to the U.S. Ecology Idaho disposal facility [NRC, 2010]). Dose assessments should consider placement of a well at the point of maximum exposure at the boundary of the disposal facility, unless appropriate justification can be made to eliminate the groundwater pathway. Well placement should bound the cumulative impacts of multiple sources at the downgradient boundary of the site if the radioactivity is assumed to be homogeneously distributed.
- Sensitivity analysis may be helpful in better understanding the impact of placing a well within the disposal facility if elevated areas of radioactivity are present, or if there is a large distance between the source and facility boundary.
- Dose assessments should consider intrusion into the waste (e.g., a basement is excavated or a well is drilled into the waste and the waste is brought to the surface where it can potentially expose a member of the public).¹⁹
- The licensee or applicant may take credit for a thick cover to eliminate exposure scenarios involving intrusion into the waste (e.g., if a cover is not expected to be eroded to a thickness less than 3 meters (m), or 10 feet (ft), during the evaluation period, then the basement excavation could be eliminated as basement excavations are typically less than 3 m (10 ft)).
- The licensee or applicant may take credit for waste acceptance criteria (WAC) that may constrain the total inventory or concentrations of waste placed in the disposal facility. For example, WAC for the U.S. Ecology Idaho disposal facility were used to limit the dose from intrusion into the waste for 10 CFR 20.2002 requests submitted by Hematite.

The licensee or applicant should use a graded approach for dose modeling. For example, if the licensee or applicant can demonstrate that the dose is less than the benchmark dose limits using screening or bounding exposure scenarios, no additional analysis may be necessary. In

¹⁹ The analyst should be aware that commonly used decommissioning codes such as RESRAD and RESRAD-OFFSITE are not equipped to calculate external dose to members of the public who may be exposed to residual radioactivity underground (e.g., dose to a member of the public residing in a basement). RESRAD and RESRAD-OFFSITE consider receptors located on the ground surface and not within a basement located under-ground and surrounded by a source of radioactivity. The analyst may be able to use other codes such as MCNP or Microshield to calculate effective "shielding factors" for use in RESRAD to estimate the dose to members of the public for the basement excavation scenario or other source/receptor geometries not included in the RESRAD conceptual model, or the licensee may be able to manage uncertainty with conservative assumptions using information from the literature or other arguments (Barr et. al., 2010).

some cases, the licensee or applicant may need to evaluate reasonably foreseeable exposure scenarios. For more complex²⁰ disposal requests, the licensee or applicant may also need to consider less likely, but plausible exposure scenarios. In those cases, ADRs with doses above a few millirem per year may be acceptable considering the likelihood of the scenario (e.g., doses may be higher than a few millirem for less likely but plausible scenarios).

7.1.3 Reuse or Recycle of Licensed Materials

Licensees or applicants may request approval to reuse or recycle licensed materials as a means of alternative disposal. In these cases, the evaluated exposure scenarios are likely to differ from the exposure scenarios evaluated for disposals involving burial of radioactive material. As mentioned in the previous sections, NUREG-1640, "Radiological Assessments for Clearance of Materials from Nuclear Facilities," and NUREG-1717, "Systematic Radiological Assessment of Exemptions for Source and Byproduct Materials," may be useful for assessing potential dose to workers involved in the transport of the materials or involved in other activities related to the recycle or reuse of the materials. Licensees or applicants may also propose the use of consensus standards or other information from the literature to support the § 20.2002 request. When relying on previously published documents, the licensee or applicant should provide sufficient information to demonstrate that the specific conditions associated with their site are consistent with or bounded by the underlying assumptions in the dose modeling of the consensus standard or other technical report (e.g., comparison of the chemical and physical forms of the materials, expected disposition paths, exposure scenarios). In some cases, the licensee may need to provide additional supplemental analysis to support the disposal request. This includes justification for the parameter values being considered when evaluating specific scenarios previously considered in other publications. NRC staff should verify that the use of the consensus standard or technical report in lieu of a disposal-specific dose assessment is appropriate, and that use of the consensus standard (or technical report) for the particular disposal request will not significantly underestimate the dose to members of the public from the disposal.

Dose assessments related to the reuse and recycle of radioactively contaminated materials should consider members of the public, including transportation, facility and disposal facility workers, as well as other members of the public who may be exposed to reused or recycled radioactive materials in the future. The following general guidelines should be considered in evaluations related to offsite disposals involving reuse or recycle of radioactive materials:

- Dose assessments should consider dose to members of the public, including workers involved with transport or handling of materials at receiving facilities.
- Dose assessments should consider transport of the material to facilities that may reuse or recycle the material.
- Dose assessments should consider reasonably foreseeable chemical, physical or other material processing activities that may lead to unique worker exposure scenarios (e.g., heating of radioactively contaminated material leading to vaporization of radioactivity and potential worker inhalation dose) at the site of reuse or recycle.
- The licensee or applicant should consider all reasonably foreseeable disposition paths of the radioactively contaminated material. (For example, radioactively contaminated calcium

²⁰ A more complex disposal request may be characterized by higher projected doses close to the dose limit benchmark, or one in which there is less certainty with respect to future exposure scenarios. If the risk from the disposal is expected to be very low, the licensee or applicant may be able to perform the dose modeling using bounding exposure scenarios without the need to evaluate alternative exposure scenarios.

fluoride, a byproduct of the uranium hexafluoride conversion process, is reused by a briquette manufacturer. The briquettes are used as a fluxing agent in the production of steel, resulting in the creation of slightly contaminated slag. The slag may be used as a component in cement or as road fill [NRC, 1992]. The final disposition of the uranium contaminated materials (used as a component of cement or in road fill) should be assessed or arguments presented for why other scenarios are more limiting).

- For radioactively contaminated material where disposition paths are not well known (e.g., reuse of radioactively contaminated metals), use of a lower dose limit benchmark may be appropriate to account for uncertainty in exposure pathways and presence of multiple sources.
- A graded approach can be used for performing the dose assessment with more risksignificant problems requiring more rigorous technical analyses. In some cases, the licensee or applicant can present arguments on why only a subset of exposure scenarios need to be considered based on the low likelihood or risk of alternative exposure scenarios.
- Technical references can be used to support conclusions regarding the expected risk to members of the public if the supporting analyses are clearly described and related to the disposal or transfer request (e.g., a licensee used an IAEA report [Jones et al., 2011] on assessment of impacts related to the recycling of light bulbs containing tritium, krypton-85, and thorium when requesting approval for recycle of lamps containing krypton-85 [NRC, 2010]). Supplemental analyses can be prepared to complement the analyses in the technical reports to provide adequate information to support the request.
- Licensees and applicants may take credit for contractual obligations or agreements that limit the quantity of radioactive material released (e.g., Cabot Supermetals submitted a request to allow reuse of uranium contaminated wastewater filtercake, a waste from ore processing, as feed material to a cement kiln. Limits on uranium concentrations in the filtercake and ratios of filtercake to other feed materials were established in the contract between the licensee and the receiving facility [NRC, 2005]).

NRC's approach generally does not allow recycle and reuse into consumer products, including food preparation, personal items, household items, and products used by children. Only certain acceptable restricted industrial uses have been approved where direct contact of solid materials with the general public can be minimized and/or avoided.

7.2 Dose Guidelines

7.2.1 § 20.2002 Requests

The 10 CFR Part 20 dose limit for individual members of the public is 1 mSv/year (100 millirem/year).²¹ The NRC typically approves § 20.2002 requests that will result in a dose to a member of the public (including all exposure groups) that is no more than "a few millirem/year" (see SECY-07-0060, Attachment 1, and NUREG-1757).²² NRC selected this criterion because it is a fraction of the natural radiation dose (approximately one percent of the radiation exposure received by members of the public from background radiation), a fraction of the annual public

²¹ See § 20.1301.

²² NUREG-1757, Volume 1, Rev. 2, Section 15.12.2.1 clarifies that doses less than 0.05 mSv/year (5 mrem/year) is consistent with the "few millirem per year" criterion, the current practice for approval of onsite disposals. At the time of license termination, there may be multiple sources of residual radioactivity, including onsite disposals. By generally constraining doses from onsite disposals to a few millirem per year, it is likely that the entire site will meet the LTR criteria without remediation of the onsite disposal. The guidance also recognizes other dose criteria higher than a few millirem per year may be approved, but that approvals of higher allowable doses should consider the risk of creating a future legacy site (see NUREG-1757, Volume 1, Rev. 2, Section 15.12.2.2 for additional details).

dose limit, and an attainable objective in the majority of cases.

For the dose assessment, licensees or applicants proposing disposals that result in doses not exceeding a 0.01 mSv (1 mrem/year) dose criterion generally do not have to consider cumulative doses from multiple sources. There is a possibility that an individual would be exposed to very low amounts of radioactivity as a result of more than one alternative disposal due to material released from licensed facilities (e.g., from products made from solid materials, disposal in landfills, material present in a road bed, etc.). The potential for the same individual to be involved in concurrent scenarios is physically constrained by the relatively limited amount of materials that could be released from licensed facilities, geographical distances between licensees, and the different locations where scenarios could occur. Based on these considerations, the likelihood of multiple exposure scenarios for a single individual is very small. If the dose from a proposed disposal results in doses of around 0.01 mSv (1 mrem/year), any combined exposure to an individual from multiple disposals would still be a very small fraction of the NRC's public dose limit of 1 mSv/year (100 mrem/year).

7.2.2 § 40.13(a) Requests

The regulations in 10 CFR 40.51(b)(3) provide for the transfer of source material to persons "exempt from the licensing requirements of the Act and regulations" in Part 40. Licensees have requested approval for the transfer of unimportant quantities of source material defined in 40.13(a), which provides an exemption from the licensing and other requirements in Part 40. The regulations do not require NRC's prior written approval for transfers of unimportant quantities of source material to exempt persons. However, for some limited types and quantities of materials that fall under the exemption for unimportant quantities of source material in § 40.13(a), transfers under § 40.51(b)(3) could potentially result in scenarios where public dose limits in 10 CFR Part 20 could be exceeded. Therefore, licensees and applicants should request NRC review and approval of such transfers, which provides the NRC staff an opportunity to develop or evaluate dose assessments prior to transfer of these unimportant quantities. The dose benchmarks associated with review of § 40.51(b)(3)/40.13(a) transfer requests involving disposal in appropriate facilities such as a RCRA Subtitle C facility (see additional information below about other types of transfers/disposals) are detailed in SRM-SECY-00-0201, and summarized below.

- Requests for transfers would normally be approved if the estimated dose to a member of the public is unlikely to exceed a dose limit of 0.25 mSv (25 mrem/year).
- The Commission should be kept informed of transfer and disposal requests that the NRC receives for evaluation of material within the 0.25 mSv (25 mrem/year) to 1 mSv (100 mrem/year) range, as well as their resolution status.
- Staff may also submit applications for Commission approval with calculated exposures above 1 mSv (100 mrem/year) if the staff believes such approvals are justified due to the unique circumstances of the specific case under review.

SRM-SECY-00-0201 refers specifically to releases of material for disposal in certain facilities (e.g., a RCRA Subtitle C facility authorized for such material). The SRM goes on to note that if releases of exempt material for other purposes are sought (e.g., recycle), the staff should evaluate the acceptability of the potential dose on a case-by-case basis until the Commission's approach for the release of solid material is resolved. Therefore, the dose benchmarks listed above are not directly applicable for the recycle of exempt or unimportant quantities of source material under § 40.51(b)(3)/40.13(a). Since larger uncertainty exists with respect to ultimate

disposal pathways and exposure scenarios associated with reuse and recycle of contaminated material, lower dose limit benchmarks may be more appropriate for those types of disposals.

7.3 Criticality and Physical Security Reviews

For 20.2002 requests involving special nuclear material, the potential for criticality will need to be addressed in the SER. These requests should be coordinated with NMSS DUWP, which will ensure that it is sent to the appropriate division for review by staff who will provide expertise in review and evaluation of criticality safety. NMSS may also provide input for an SER for these instances.

Although physical security is not expected to be an issue for these types of disposals because the concentrations are so low, certain cases may require special consideration. For example, disposals of special nuclear material would require an exemption from Part 70 requirements for security. The PM should request technical assistance from the Office of Nuclear Safety and Incident Response (NSIR) in reviewing and evaluating any security issues associated with a proposed disposal involving special nuclear material. NSIR should also provide input to the SER.

7.4 Safety Evaluation Reports

Although there is no specific regulatory requirement to issue a safety evaluation report (SER) as part of the disposition of an ADR, the NRC staff is obligated to document significant decisions in accordance with NRC Management Directive (MD) 3.53, "NRC Records and Document Management Program," Handbook 1, Part I, "Recordkeeping Requirements." Specifically, MD 3.53 requires that, in order to provide adequate documentation of the organization, functions, policies, decisions, procedures, and essential transactions of the NRC, records shall be created and maintained that are sufficient to document the formulation and execution of basic policies and decisions and necessary actions taken, including all significant decisions and commitments reached orally (person to person, by telecommunications, or in conference).

Consistent with the above discussion, the SER provides the technical, safety, and regulatory basis for the NRC's decision regarding a request. The SER should provide sufficient information to explain the staff's rationale to someone unfamiliar with the licensee or applicant's request. The SER includes a brief description of the proposed request, the regulatory requirements related to the issue, and an evaluation that explains why the staff's disposition of the request satisfies the regulatory requirements. Given that the SER serves as the record of the staff's disposition of an ADR, the information relied upon in the SER and supplied by the applicant should be appropriately maintained. This is not meant to hinder the effectiveness or use of questions and clarifications by telephone or in meetings. However, if the information is important in the staff's decision-making process and is not otherwise in the public domain or reasonably inferred by the staff, it must be formally provided by the licensee.

For most disposal requests, the PA analyst provides SER input or the content of the SER is based on a TER developed by the PA analyst (see Section 5.2). In some cases, the PM will add input as appropriate from criticality safety and/or physical security reviewers, where disposals involve special nuclear material (see Section 7.3). When the PA analyst determines that there is sufficient information to complete a technical review of a disposal request, they should develop the draft SER or TER for the analyst's Branch Chief's review. A draft SER or TER is also requested to support an RAI. Subsequently, the PA analyst will submit a final SER input or TER to the PM. The PM will then prepare the final SER and obtain concurrence from

the PA Branch Chief, in addition to Branch Chiefs for other branches that may have contributed to the review, the PM's Branch Chief, OGC, and the PM's Division Director or Deputy Director.

For offsite disposals in within NRC's jurisdiction, not Agreement State jurisdiction, such as disposals in a landfill, the SER should contain the following or similar language in the conclusions section for 10 CFR 20.2002 authorizations, as appropriate:

"Further, in accordance with the provisions of 10 CFR *[30.11, 40.14, and/or 70.17]*, ²³ "the Commission may, upon application by an interested person or upon its own initiative, grant such exemptions from the requirements of the regulations as it determines are authorized by law and will not endanger life or property or the common defense and security and are otherwise in the public interest." Based on the above analyses, this material authorized for disposal poses no danger to public health and safety, does not involve information or activities that could potentially impact the common defense and security of the United States, and it is in the public interest to dispose of wastes in a controlled environment such as that provided by the licensed landfills [may want to add more descriptive detail on case-specific basis e.g. state-regulated landfill]. Therefore, to the extent that this material authorized for disposal in this 20.2002 authorization is otherwise licensable, the staff concludes that the material authorized for disposal is exempt from further Atomic Energy Act (AEA) and NRC licensing requirements."

See the list of historical ADR reviews, provided in an appendix to this guidance document, for examples of SERs.

7.5 Requests for Additional Information

The NRC staff may issue RAIs to licensees that request approval of alternative disposal procedures. RAIs enable the staff to obtain relevant information needed to make a regulatory decision on a request that is fully informed, technically correct, and legally defensible. RAIs are necessary when the information is not included in the initial submittal, is not contained in any other docketed correspondence, or cannot reasonably be inferred from the information available to the staff. RAIs should be directly related to the applicable regulatory requirements associated with the request. RAIs should also be consistent with the applicable codes, standards, and guidance (e.g., Regulatory Guides, NUREGs). RAIs should not be used as general information requests or as a means to encourage commitments from licensees.

During the review, the analyst(s) will draft a TER/SER. During this timeframe, the analyst(s) may also develop draft RAIs for the PM's review.²⁴ The purpose of these drafts is to ensure that all technical areas are addressed in the TER/SER and to help determine the importance (or relative insignificance) of additional information needs. RAIs should be in the form of a request for information, clarification, or revision to the applicant's submittal. RAIs should also be as specific as possible to avoid confusion by the applicant and should reference specific portions of regulations and/or guidance, when applicable. In all cases, the regulatory and technical basis (e.g., reference to a specific regulation or guidance) and risk significance, if applicable, for the requested information should be included.

²³ The regulations in 10 CFR 30.11, 40.14, and 70.17 all provide criteria for "Specific exemptions."

²⁴ A draft SER and EA (see Sections 7 and 8) should be prepared prior to transmittal of the draft RAI. Although RAIs may be developed during the acceptance review, they should be limited to obvious information insufficiencies.

For ADRs, the analyst(s) conducting the review should notify the PM that information gaps in the licensee's submittal may require issuing RAIs. Following the development of the draft RAI, the PM should review the draft RAI and consider the need for the RAI. It should then be transmitted to the licensee, including an opportunity for the licensee to have a clarifying call with NRC staff and a request for the licensee to determine if SUNSI is present and properly marked. If requested or otherwise practical, the PM should hold a meeting or conduct a telephone conference with the licensee prior to transmittal of the formal RAI letter to identify and discuss significant issues/deficiencies and staff's expectations. The PM and the analyst(s) should use these meetings or teleconferences to clarify issues and answer basic questions. The PM and the analyst(s) will also highlight any significant issues/deficiencies for management attention as they arise.

The PM will create a concurrence package containing the RAI and cover letter for review by the PM's Branch Chief. The RAI questions should normally be included as an enclosure to a letter to the licensee. The PM would develop this cover letter, which should:

- Identify the document being reviewed and any previous RAIs (as appropriate);
- Summarize significant questions;
- Refer to the enclosure(s) for the complete questions (if one is provided);
- Include an expected response date;
- Discuss a meeting or conference call, if appropriate, to discuss the RAI; and
- Identify the PM as the point of contact for the response.

The staff should leverage appropriate communications means, such as public meetings and teleconferences, to the maximum extent possible, in order to improve clarity and understanding both during the development of draft RAIs and after sending RAIs to licensees. Engagement with licensees should facilitate staff understanding of licensee submittals, reduce the number of RAIs needed, and heighten licensees' understanding of RAIs and their ability to respond effectively. These interactions are to be conducted in accordance with our NRC openness policies and documented, as appropriate, in ADAMS.

Site visits and conference calls with the licensee have been found to limit the number of RAIs and decrease the overall review time. The PM should document any site visits and conference calls with the licensee. In some cases, it may be warranted to perform a regulatory audit in order to identify additional information that a licensee should formally submit. Following the audit, the information needed should be requested via the RAI process.

8.0 Environmental Reviews

NRC approvals of ADRs generally require preparation of an EA. NUREG-1748, "Environmental Review Guidance for Licensing Actions Associated with NMSS Programs," contains guidance for staff on how to comply with the National Environmental Policy Act (NEPA) for NRC licensing decisions. NUREG-1748 should be referred to for additional guidance, including the proper format and content of an EA.

An EA is a concise public document that provides sufficient evidence and analysis for determining whether to prepare an environmental impact statement (EIS)²⁵ or a Finding of No

²⁵ As stated in NUREG-1748, "An EIS is a publicly available document detailing the environmental impacts associated with the proposed action and reasonable alternatives."

Significant Impact (FONSI).²⁶ In the majority of the cases, the EA will result in a FONSI. The regulations in 10 CFR 51.21, "Criteria for and identification of licensing and regulatory actions requiring environmental assessments," and 10 CFR 51.30, "Environmental assessment," provide requirements for EAs. The regulations in 10 CFR 51.32," Finding of No Significant Impact," specify the content of a FONSI and the regulations in 10 CFR 51.35, "Requirement to publish finding of no significant impact; limitation on Commission action," require that the FONSI be published in a *Federal Register* notice (FRN) before the approval of the ADR is issued. Before the FONSI is published, the approved EA should be placed in ADAMS under the appropriate docket and made publicly available. An example FRN containing an EA/FONSI is referenced in the Table of Contents of this document, as well as a sample memorandum letter regarding the FRN.

With regard to the content of EAs, both radiological and non-radiological impacts should be considered when preparing an EA, including consideration of impacts associated with transportation of radioactive materials to the receiving facility. In some cases, licensees, applicants, or NRC staff may rely on assessments performed and documented in generic environmental impact statements, such as NUREG-0586, "Final Generic Environmental Impact Statement on Decommissioning of Nuclear Facilities," NUREG-1496, "Generic Environmental Impact Statement in Support of Rulemaking on Radiological Criteria for License Termination of NRC-Licensed Nuclear Facilities," and NUREG-0170, "Final Environmental Statement on the Transportation of Radioactive Materials by Air and Other Modes," to support preparation of the environmental assessment. Technical analyses conducted to support the SER may also be summarized in the EA. Alternatives to the proposed action should be considered, as appropriate, including evaluation of alternative disposal methods and alternative transportation modes or routes. In some cases, it may be appropriate for licensees or applicants to include mitigating actions that can be taken to reduce environmental impacts (e.g., constraints on concentrations or quantities of materials disposed; depth of burials; or other constraints). The staff initially will rely on the analyses and information provided by the licensee in its ADR.

The EA for disposal requests is prepared by the PM, technical staff, regional staff, or Environmental Review Branch (ERB) staff. The PM may receive support from the ERB to review EAs that are developed by the PM or other staff. The PM should consult with the ERB Chief to determine if a Technical Assistance Request (TAR) is needed to review an EA or if ERB assistance is needed to prepare the EA. The ERB Chief will respond to the PM with the name of the staff member assigned to conduct the review. The results of the ERB review of an EA may be documented in an email or memo to the PM and their BC. The basic details of the environmental review process are in Sections 1.3 and 1.4 of NUREG-1748.

After appropriate review and development of a basis for issuing an EA, the EA should be developed and include statements similar to the following, as appropriate:

- For the introduction and/or identification of the proposed action: "[t]his proposed action would also exempt the site authorized for disposal of the low-contaminated material from further Atomic Energy Act (AEA) and NRC licensing requirements."
- For the environmental impacts of the proposed action: "[t]he proposed action and attendant exemption of the site from further AEA and NRC licensing requirements will not significantly

²⁶ As indicated in NUREG-1748, the EA should provide sufficient evidence and analysis of impacts to support a determination of a finding of no significant impacts (i.e., FONSI). If an EA does not result in a FONSI, then the potential impacts from the proposed activities require the preparation of an EIS.

increase the probability or consequences of accidents, no changes are being made in the types of any effluents that may be released off site, and there is no significant increase in occupational or public radiation exposure at the offsite disposal facility."²⁷

Prior to finalizing the EA, the PM should consult with the appropriate State regulatory agencies.²⁸ In general, this may include coordination with agencies such as their Department of Health. The PM should seek the assistance of the Federal, State, and Tribal Liaison Branch in NMSS to identify the appropriate State official(s) in which to send the EA. The PM should send the draft EA to the State where the proposed disposal (or receiving) facility is located as well as the State where the licensee submitting the disposal request is located, with a specified review schedule provided (a 30-day review period is recommended). Any comments received should be addressed as appropriate and incorporated into the final EA, which will be included in the FRN. A summary of the EA or the entire EA can be provided in the FRN.

In consultation with the LA, the PM will prepare the FRN for the EA/FONSI and forward it to the Office of Administration for publication in the *Federal Register*. If applicable, ERB should be on concurrence for the FRN. The PM will perform a SUNSI review to make sure all referenced documents are publicly available. Accordingly, the PM should also send it to the licensee (or other, as appropriate) for a review to ensure all SUNSI is appropriately marked.

See Section 11.0 of this guidance for additional coordination measures for disposal requests. In certain cases, an EA may be issued for public comment. Section 10 of this guidance, as well as SECY-06-0056, Enclosure 3, provides guidelines on when a request may require public outreach to improve transparency in the approval process. As applicable, ERB should also be consulted to determine if public outreach should be conducted.

9.0 Final Documentation

There are three possible outcomes from the NRC staff ADR review that require formal final documentation: (1) approval of the request (with a license amendment or with a letter, which may include an enclosed Safety Evaluation Report); (2) denial of the request; or (3) an acknowledgement letter if the applicant/licensee withdraws the request.

As identified in "Clarification of the Authorization for Alternate Disposal of Material Issued Under 10 CFR 20.2002 and Exemption Provisions in 10 CFR (FSME-12-025)," there are several situations in which the NRC and an Agreement State would be involved in the ADR approval for offsite disposal at an unlicensed facility. If the requester is an NRC licensee and the unlicensed facility is located in an Agreement State, then the NRC would approve the disposal request and the Agreement State would issue an exemption to the unlicensed facility. If the requester is an Agreement State licensee and the unlicensed facility is located within NRC jurisdiction, then the Agreement State would approve the disposal request and the NRC would issue an exemption to the unlicensed facility. In all of these cases, the NRC should document NRC and Agreement State approval of the disposal request. For instance, if an Agreement State approval and the NRC issues the exemption, the NRC will still document the approval and the exemption.

²⁷ Note that the second bullet is referring to releases that occur at the offsite disposal facility after the transfer of radioactive material is complete, and is not referring to the transfer of material from the licensee's site to another site, which could be considered an increase in offsite releases.

²⁸ See NUREG-1748, and Appendix D in particular, for additional guidance on these consultations.

9.1 License Amendments

Typically, the NRC approves ADR requests from materials and fuel cycle licensees with a license amendment and approves ADRs from reactors with a letter and an enclosed Safety Evaluation Report.²⁹

9.1.1 Notice for Opportunity for Hearing

Any person whose interest may be affected by the granting, renewal, or licensee-initiated amendment of a license may file a request for a hearing. Regulations governing a request for a hearing are contained in 10 CFR Part 2, "Agency Rules of Practice and Procedure," and in particular, 10 CFR 2.309, "Hearing requests, petitions to intervene, requirements for standing, and contentions."³⁰ A license amendment is typically not required for reactor disposal requests but typically is required for disposals for materials and fuel cycle licensees, as noted in the preceding section. If a license amendment is required, then as soon as practicable following the satisfactory completion of the acceptance review for a license amendment, the PM will, as necessary, provide notice of an opportunity for a hearing. It is recommended that staff prepare and publish a *Federal Register Notice* (FRN) announcing, as appropriate: (1) the staff's consideration of the license amendment request; (2) an opportunity for public comment, and (3) an opportunity for a hearing. A notice may also be posted on the NRC's public webpage, as applicable.³¹

If the licensee or applicant submits supplemental information that expands the scope of the proposed license amendment beyond the description on the NRC staff's original notice, then renoticing of the proposed amendment might be required. As such, it is recommended that the description of the proposed amendment in the original notice be brief and broadly characterize the aspects of the amendment in a form such that the general public can readily understand the purpose of the amendment. The notice should not be prescriptive as to a precise section number, technical specification, wording, or specific engineering parameter values.

If an ADR is a part of a license amendment or license issuance, there would be an opportunity for a hearing on the amendment or license, and the disposal or transfer could be part of that hearing. The PM should consult OGC if further clarification is needed on individual ADRs, as needed.

As applicable, an FRN should be prepared in accordance with the instructions provided above and applicable regulations and guidance.

²⁹ SECY-06-0056, "Improving Transparency in the 10 CFR 20.2002 Process," and SECY-07-0060, "Basis and Justification for Approval Process for 10 CFR 20.2002 Authorizations and Options for Change," indicate that the agency uses two different approval processes for § 20.2002 disposal requests and provide the bases for these processes. As noted in SECY-07-0060, the NRC typically does not amend reactor licenses as it does licenses for materials and fuel cycle facilities. In SRM-SECY-07-0060, the Commission approved the staff's recommendation to continue approving reactor 10 CFR 20.2002 requests by letter and fuel cycle and material licensee requests by license amendment. Likewise, the staff should also approve 40.13(a) requests from reactor licensees by letter and requests from fuel cycle and material licensees by license amendment.

³⁰ Instructions and requirements are also provided in 10 CFR Part 2: Rules of Practice for Domestic Licensing Proceedings and Issuance of Orders (<u>https://www.nrc.gov/about-nrc/regulatory/adjudicatory/part2revisions.html</u>). FSME Policy and Procedures 6-9, "FSME Staff Support of the Hearing Process in 10 CFR Part 2" (non-public) and other documents provide additional guidance.

³¹ See the webpage currently entitled, "Hearing Opportunities and License Applications" (<u>https://www.nrc.gov/about-nrc/regulatory/adjudicatory/hearing-license-applications.html</u>).

9.2 Exemptions

9.2.1 Exemptions for §20.2002 off-site burial cases

The § 20.2002 authorization is issued to the NRC licensee who is using the ADR to dispose of the material. For off-site disposals, the NRC or an Agreement State issues an exemption from the requirements for a license for possession of the radioactive material to the off-site facility. This exemption is cited in the approval letter and/or license amendment. The specific language in the cover letter should be similar to the following, as appropriate, if the request is approved:

"In accordance with the provisions of 10 CFR [30.11, 40.14, and/or 70.17], "the Commission may, upon application by an interested person or upon its own initiative, grant such exemptions from the requirements of the regulations . . . as it determines are authorized by law and will not endanger life or property or the common defense and security and are otherwise in the public interest." To the extent that the material authorized for disposal in this 20.2002 authorization is otherwise licensable, the staff concludes that the site authorized for disposal is exempt from further AEA and NRC licensing requirements. The enclosed safety evaluation report concludes that the exemptions are authorized by law and will not endanger life or property or the common defense and security and are otherwise in the public interest. The staff also evaluated the environmental impacts of the exemptions and determined that granting these exemption(s) would not result in any significant impacts. For this action, an Environmental Assessment and Finding of No Significant Impact were prepared and published in the Federal Register (*XX FR XXXXX*). Accordingly, pursuant to 10 CFR [30.11, 40.14, and/or 70.17], the exemptions are granted and effective immediately."

For onsite disposals, no exemption is needed, because the radioactive material is already licensed and remains under license. When the license is terminated, the dose associated with residual radioactivity remaining at the site, including the onsite disposals, will be evaluated to ensure the LTR criteria are met for release of the site.

9.2.2 Exemptions for §20.2002 reuse or recycle use cases

For cases of reuse or recycle, the exemption will be different from that in the section above for offsite burial disposals. For reuse or recycle, the specific exemption must be written to apply to any person who possesses or uses, in the future, the licensed materials being recycled or reused. As for the offsite burial case, the exemption must clearly describe the material, including the concentration acceptable to NRC staff.

The exemption for reuse or recycle cases is expected to be issued by the regulator of the licensee dispositioning the material. In this case, the regulator for an Agreement State receiving the material does not need to issue another exemption, as the exemption issued by the regulator would apply to all possessors of the material.

9.2.3 Exemptions for § 40.13(a) Requests

The regulations in 10 CFR 40.13(a) codify an exemption, so the regulator would not issue a concurrent specific exemption. The regulations in § 40.13(a) exempt any person from NRC licensing requirements "to the extent that such person receives, possesses, uses, transfers, or delivers source material in any chemical mixture, compound, solution, or alloy in which source material is by weight less than one-twentieth of 1 percent (0.05 percent) of the mixture, compound, solution, or alloy." The regulations in § 40.51(b)(3) provide licensees a mechanism

for transfer of unimportant quantities of source material, which are exempt from licensing under 40.13(a).

9.3 Approval of ADRs

The PM and LA will prepare the approval package for concurrence (see Sections 7 and 8 for more information). This package should include:

- A cover letter;
- A license amendment as an enclosure (if required);
- The SER as an enclosure; and
- Reference to the EA (which may result in a FONSI) that was published in an FRN.

In addition, OGC shall review and concur on all packages for legal adequacy and defensibility (i.e., no legal objection).³²

Following approval, the LA will update the docket file (if applicable), and will close the EPID if no follow-up actions are required.

An Environmental Review should be completed in accordance with Section 8 of this guidance document. Although standard practice is to publish a final EA after consultation with the affected States, in certain cases, a draft EA may also be published for public comment. The regulations in 10 CFR 51.33(b) provide a list of circumstances in which it may be appropriate to issue a draft FONSI for public comment, including a finding by the appropriate NRC staff director that the preparation of a draft FONSI would further the purposes of NEPA. The PM should consult with NMSS management to determine if this additional step is appropriate.

9.4 Denial of ADRs

Early management attention and engagement should be provided whenever staff is considering denial of a request. Management recognizes that some requests may not satisfy NRC safety regulations and warrant a denial. Whenever a denial is being considered, a BC-level meeting between the technical branches (TBs), PMs, and other applicable NRC staff should be held at the earliest opportunity. If the outcome of that meeting is anything other than alignment to continue the staff's review, and in particular, if it is determined that the ADR should be denied, the appropriate managerial level should be briefed expeditiously. The BCs should collaborate to prepare a joint briefing with options and recommendations, even if differing views exist. If a denial recommendation is supported, a denial SER should be prepared and processing initiated.

Assuming the Division Director (or other delegated authority) agrees with this path going forward, the PM will have initial contact with the licensee or applicant to arrange for a teleconference, informing the licensee or applicant that the staff plans to deny the ADR, and informing the licensee or applicant that the staff will discuss the basis for denial during the call (which will include the Division Director). The PM should also coordinate with the applicable TB reviewers to arrange for them to be available during the teleconference. TB reviewers should be prepared to discuss their technical positions.

During the call, the Division Director (with assistance from TB reviewers as necessary) will

³² Although specific to NRR, refer to NRR Office Instruction COM-109, "NRR Interfaces with the Office of General Counsel," for further details regarding OGC review.

provide the basis for the staff's plan to deny the request. The Division Director will offer the licensee an opportunity to withdraw³³ the ADR or to request a public meeting for further discussion of the issues. The Division Director should make it clear that if the licensee or applicant neither submits a formal withdrawal in writing by a specific date (e.g., 2 or 3 days from the call) nor requests a public meeting by the same date, the NRC staff will issue the denial.

As indicated previously, the staff should prepare an SER documenting the basis for a denial, which can be done in parallel with the activities described above. The denial SER does not need to address all aspects of the licensee's or applicant's request, but should be sufficient to support a conclusion that the ADR is not acceptable (i.e., the SER does not need to address aspects of the ADR that are acceptable). The PM should also prepare a denial transmittal letter and an FRN of the denial, if applicable. The PM should obtain concurrences from the LA, applicable TBs, OGC, and the applicable Branch Chiefs. The Division Director (or Deputy Director, if delegated this responsibility) is added to the concurrence block and is the signature authority for the denial transmittal letter.

9.5 Withdrawal of ADRs

The licensee may choose to withdraw its ADR based upon its own initiative or as the result of a planned denial by the NRC.

If the licensee or applicant decides to withdraw the ADR, the PM should prepare a transmittal letter documenting the withdrawal (see ADAMS Accession No. ML082260953 for a 10 CFR Part 50 license amendment withdrawal template as an example). If applicable, the PM should also prepare a *Federal Register* Notice of Withdrawal (see ADAMS Accession No. ML14013A020 for a 10 CFR Part 50 license amendment withdrawal FRN template as an example).

If the licensee or applicant decided to withdraw the ADR based upon a planned denial by the NRC as described in Section 9, the draft SER documenting the basis for the planned denial of the amendment should be included as an enclosure to the memo to ensure that an adequate record of the staff's decision-making process is captured as an Official Agency Record (i.e., consistent with requirements in MD 3.53 as discussed previously in this document). If the applicant does not withdraw the ADR or request a public meeting by the date set during the formal call, the PM should obtain the Division Director's concurrence and signature on the denial package and formally issue the denial.

10.0 Communications

It is expected that most ADRs will involve routine communications as described in this document, such as submission of an ADR, RAIs and RAI responses, and issuance of an SER. However, there may be some ADRs for which the PM, technical staff, and management may decide that additional communications are needed, and for which a communication plan may be completed.³⁴ In addition, for ADRs that meet the criteria within SRM-SECY-06-0056 for "significant," the Commission has directed the staff to provide enhanced communications implementing special outreach measures.

³³ The regulations in 10 CFR 2.107 provide criteria for "Withdrawal of applications."

³⁴ More information on communication plans is provided in "Communication Plan: Disposal of Low-Activity Radioactive Waste Using the U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission's Regulation in 10 CFR 20.2002" (ML092460037) and SECY-06-0056. These documents also discussed enhanced communications.

10.1 Communication Plans for ADRs with High Public Interest

For ADRs that involve or are expected to involve a high level of interest from the public, as determined on a case-by-case basis by the PM, technical staff, and management, a communication plan should be completed. The goal of a communication plan is to develop methods to effectively communicate with stakeholders regarding the NRC's review of ADRs. The primary purpose of these communications is to further facilitate stakeholder awareness and understanding of the means by which the NRC assures the safety of these disposals and to support the NRC's goal of ensuring openness in its regulatory processes.

A communication plan may include information to identify key messages, the audience and stakeholders, and other information, such as the availability of documents in ADAMS and applicable information on the NRC website. The communication plan may also include a public meeting³⁵ or teleconference and other opportunities for stakeholder interaction.

10.2 Determination of the Need for Enhanced Communications

The Commission directed the staff, in SRM-SECY-06-0056, to implement special outreach measures for significant § 20.2002 requests. Implementing these outreach measures will help to anticipate stakeholder concerns and requests for involvement, will increase transparency for these requests, and should help to reduce staff resources used to respond to stakeholder concerns. Although these enhanced measures were developed for § 20.2002 requests, they may also be implemented for significant § 40.51(b)(3) requests to transfer unimportant quantities of source materials under § 40.13(a) to exempt persons.

Early in the review process, the PM should determine which, if any, outreach measures are needed for a specific § 20.2002 request. The Commission requested provisions for increased stakeholder involvement for "significant" disposal requests and NRC staff developed preliminary criteria that would guide decisions on whether additional outreach measures were necessary. The preliminary criteria listed in SECY-06-0056, Enclosure 3, indicated that a request would <u>not</u> be considered significant and <u>no special measures</u> would be necessary when:

- The proposed § 20.2002 disposal will be in a facility that routinely disposes of large quantities of similar radioactive materials, in accordance with its permit;
- The proposed § 20.2002 disposal involves small quantities and concentrations of materials (would not apply to disposals such as incinerator ash from research facilities disposed of in accordance with Policy and Guidance Directive 8-10, "Disposal of Incinerator Ash as Ordinary Waste"³⁶);
- The proposed disposals involve a high degree of certainty that the scenarios and assumptions used for the dose analyses are appropriate, based on past approvals, and will ensure that doses to a member of the public will not be above "a few millirem per year;"³⁷ or
- The proposed disposal is on a licensee's site.

³⁵ All public meetings should be conducted in accordance with NRC Management Directive 3.5, "Attendance at NRC Staff-Sponsored Meetings" and posted on the public NRC website in accordance with agency procedures. Currently, public meeting notification is to be provided 10 days in advance of the meeting date.
³⁶ ADAMS Accession No. ML003744979

³⁷ As noted in Section 7 of this document, less likely but plausible exposure scenarios may be conducted to riskinform the decision. NRC staff should evaluate the relative likelihood and magnitude of the peak predicted dose for less likely, but plausible alternative exposure scenarios when determining the risk-significance of the 20.2002 disposal request and the need for enhanced public outreach efforts.

In SRM-SECY-06-0056, the Commission indicated the staff should inform the Commission when it receives a § 20.2002 request that it deems "significant." The PM should do this through communications determined to be appropriate.

10.3 Outreach Measures for Enhanced Communications

The PM and analyst should determine early in the review process whether additional outreach measures are warranted, typically judging from the level of stakeholder interest. If outreach measures are necessary, the PM and analyst should discuss the need for these measures with their Branch Chiefs.

Notwithstanding the above guidelines, there could also be instances in which a public meeting is warranted, based on requests from the public, elected officials, the State, the licensee, or for other reasons. When a specific § 20.2002 request is deemed to require special measures for communicating with or involving the public, the PM should prepare a communication plan specific to the request. The following tools should be included in the plan (from the direction provided in SRM-SECY-06-0056):

- An FRN announcing the receipt of the § 20.2002 request;
- If necessary, one or more public meetings, preferably in the vicinity of the proposed disposal facility; and
- A Fact Sheet describing the proposed disposal.

Additionally, when enhanced outreach is appropriate, the PM should also consider sending the draft final SER for review to the State where the disposal will take place as well as the State where the applicant is located.

Additional details on the outreach measures to be employed for enhanced communication will be contained within the communication plan.

11.0 Coordination

Since State agencies typically regulate alternative disposals of waste under RCRA, PMs should ensure that appropriate coordination has occurred with these regulators as well as the proposed disposal site operators. This coordination is important because § 20.2002 approvals do not supersede or override a disposal facility's state RCRA permit.

Upon receipt of the § 20.2002 request, the PM should review the incoming request from the licensee or applicant to determine what, if any, coordination it has had with the State regulatory agency regarding the acceptability of the proposed disposal at a specific facility. Except for the exception identified below, the PM should contact the RCRA permitting agency and, if necessary and acceptable to the State agency, the disposal facility operator, and provide them with a copy of the disposal authorization request, if the licensee or applicant has not already provided it.

As described in Section 8, the PM should send the draft EA to the State where the proposed disposal (or receiving) facility is located as well as the state where the licensee submitting the disposal request is located. As described in Section 10, the PM should also consider sending the draft final SER for review to the State where the disposal will take place and the State where the applicant is located. The State's documented conclusions on the acceptability of the disposal should be included in ADAMS and referenced in the SER (see Section 7.4).

For the U.S. Ecology Idaho RCRA hazardous waste disposal site, the State of Idaho receives notification of disposals from U.S. Ecology, in accordance with its permit. The PM should verify that the proposed disposal is in accordance with the Waste Acceptance Criteria for the facility (available at <u>www.usecology.com</u>). The permittee will normally handle coordination with the State, as required in the permit; therefore, the PM does not need to furnish a copy of the licensee's disposal request to the State. If, however, the proposed disposal requires enhanced outreach with stakeholders (see Section 10), the PM should contact the appropriate personnel at the Idaho Department of Environmental Quality. As noted above, as part of enhanced outreach with stakeholders, the PM should also send the draft EA and draft final SER for review to the State where the disposal will take place (i.e., Idaho) as well as the State where the applicant is located.

12.0 Jurisdiction

12.1 Agreement States

Under section 274 of the AEA, the NRC may enter into an agreement with a State for discontinuance of the NRC's regulatory authority over some materials licensees within the State. The State must first show that its regulatory program is compatible with the NRC's and adequate to protect public health and safety. The NRC retains authority over, among other things, nuclear power plants within the State.³⁸

By letter dated March 13, 2012 (ADAMS Accession No. ML12065A038), the Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC) issued a letter to all Agreement States³⁹ entitled, "Clarification of the Authorization for Alternate Disposal of Material Issued Under 10 CFR 20.2002 and Exemption Provisions in 10 CFR (FSME-12-025)." This letter, also referred to as the "All Agreement States Letter," provided clarification regarding the disposal of radioactive materials in RCRA disposal facilities or other unlicensed facilities. The letter provides several situations in which the NRC or an Agreement State or multiple Agreement States may be involved in the approval of the disposal at an unlicensed facility.

Regulatory Issue Summary (RIS) 2016-11, "Requests to Dispose of Very Low-Level Radioactive Waste Pursuant to 10 CFR 20.2002," superseded Information Notice (IN) 86-90, "Requests to Dispose of Very Low-Level Radioactive Waste Pursuant to 10 CFR 20.302," and clarifies the application process for obtaining approvals to dispose of LLW in accordance with 10 CFR 20.2002 regulations, or equivalent Agreement State regulations. The NRC expects recipients to review the information for applicability to their facilities and to consider what action to take, as appropriate.

12.2 Non-Licensees

Approvals of ADRs apply to NRC licensees and non-licensees. In some instances, the NRC may receive requests to dispose of waste under § 20.2002 from former NRC licensees, whose licenses have been terminated through the site decommissioning process. Such disposal requests would be considered to be requested by non-licensees.

³⁸ See the NRC webpage, "Governing Legislation," (<u>https://www.nrc.gov/about-nrc/governing-laws.html</u>) for more information.

³⁹ The list of Agreement States can be located with this link: <u>https://scp.nrc.gov/asdirectory.html.</u>

13.0 References

13.1 Code of Federal Regulations

- 1. Title 10 of the Code of Federal Regulations, "Energy"
- 2. 10 CFR Part 20, "Standards for Protection Against Radiation"
 3. 10 CFR Part 30, "Rules of general applicability to domestic licensing of byproduct material"
- 4. 10 CFR Part 40, "Domestic Licensing of Source Material"
- 5. 10 CFR Part 50, "Domestic licensing of production and utilization facilities"
- 6. 10 CFR Part 70, "Domestic licensing of special nuclear material"

13.2 Guidance

No.	Title	Date	Link
Dispo	sal		
1	NUREG-0782, Draft Environmental Impact Statement in 10 CFR Part 61 Licensing Requirements for Land Disposal of Radioactive Waste	September 1981	http://www.nrc.gov/reading-rm/doc- collections/nuregs/staff/sr0782/
2	NUREG-0902, Site Suitability, Selection and Characterization: Branch Technical Position - Low-Level Radioactive Waste	April 1982	http://www.nrc.gov/docs/ML0530/ML053010 325.pdf
3	NUREG-0945, Vol. 1, Final Environmental Impact Statement on 10 CFR Part 61 Licensing Requirements for Land Disposal of Radioactive Waste	November 1982	http://www.nrc.gov/reading-rm/doc- collections/nuregs/staff/sr0945/
4	NUREG-1199, Rev. 2, Standard Format and Content of a License Application for a Low- Level Radioactive Waste Disposal Facility	January 1991	http://www.nrc.gov/docs/ML0225/ML022550 605.pdf
5	NUREG-1200, Rev. 3, Standard Review Plan for the review of a License Application for a Low-Level Radioactive Waste Disposal Facility	March 1994	http://www.nrc.gov/docs/ML0613/ML061370 484.pdf
6	NUREG-1241, Licensing of Alternative Methods of Disposal of Low-Level Radioactive Waste	December 1986	http://www.nrc.gov/docs/ML0530/ML053010 322.pdf
7	NUREG-1274, Review Process for Low-Level Radioactive Waste Disposal License Application Under Low-Level Radioactive Waste Policy Amendments Act	August 1987	http://www.nrc.gov/docs/ML1321/ML13217A 156.pdf
8	NUREG-1293, Quality Assurance Guidance for a Low-Level Radioactive Waste Disposal Facility	April 1991	http://pbadupws.nrc.gov/docs/ML1124/ML11 242A180.pdf
9	NUREG-1300, Environmental Standard Review Plan for the Review of License Application for a Low-Level Radioactive Waste Disposal Facility	April 1987	http://pbadupws.nrc.gov/docs/ML0530/ML05 3010347.pdf
10	NUREG-1388, Environmental Monitoring of Low-Level Radioactive Waste Disposal Facility	December 1989	http://pbadupws.nrc.gov/docs/ML0530/ML05 3010320.pdf
11	NUREG-1556, Consolidated Guidance About Materials Licenses	March 2016	http://www.nrc.gov/reading-rm/doc- collections/nuregs/staff/sr1556/
12	NUREG-1573, A Performance Assessment Methodology for Low-Level Radioactive Waste Disposal Facilities: Recommendations of NRC's Performance Assessment Working Group	October 2000	http://www.nrc.gov/docs/ML0037/ML003770 778.pdf
13	NUREG-1623, Design of Erosion Protection	September	http://www.nrc.gov/docs/ML0225/ML022530

No.	Title	Date	Link		
Dispo	Disposal				
	for Long-Term Stabilization	2002	043.pdf		
14	NUREG-1757, Vol. 2, Consolidated	September	http://www.nrc.gov/reading-rm/doc-		
14	Decommissioning Guidance	2006	collections/nuregs/staff/sr1757/		
	NUREG-1853, History and Framework of		http://www.nrc.gov/docs/ML0706/ML070600		
15	Commercial Low-Level Radioactive Waste	January	684.pdf		
15	Management in the United States: ACNW	2007			
	White Paper				
16	NUREG-2175, Guidance for Conducting	March 2015	http://www.nrc.gov/docs/ML1505/ML15056A		
10	Technical Analyses for 10 CFR Part 61	March 2015	516.pdf		
	NUREG/BR-0204, Rev. 2, Instructions for		http://www.nrc.gov/docs/ML0718/ML071870		
17	Completing NRC's Uniform Low-Level	July 1998	<u>172.pdf</u>		
	Radioactive Waste Manifest				
	NUREG/CP-0195, Proceedings of the		http://www.nrc.gov/docs/ML1123/ML11238A		
	Workshop on Engineered Barrier	August	<u>056.pdf</u>		
18	Performance Related to Low-Level	2010			
	Radioactive Waste, Decommissioning, and	2010			
	Uranium Mill Tailings Facilities				
10	NUREG/CR-1759, Data Base for Radioactive	November	http://www.nrc.gov/docs/ML0918/ML091870		
10	Waste Management	1981	<u>517.html</u>		
	NUREG/CR-2642, Long-Term Survivability of		http://www.osti.gov/scitech/biblio/5361595-		
20	Riprap for Armoring Uranium Mill Tailings and	April 2012	long-term-survivability-riprap-armoring-		
20	Covers: A Literature Review		uranium-mill-tailings-covers-literature-		
			review-references		
	NUREG/CR-2675, Relevance of Biotic		http://www.osti.gov/scitech/servlets/purl/516		
21	Pathways to the Long-Term Regulation of	1982	<u>9168</u>		
	Nuclear Waste Disposal				
22	NUREG/CR-3276, Geomorphic Controls on	1083	https://searchworks.stanford.edu/view/45851		
~~	the Management of Nuclear Waste	1000	<u>12</u>		
	NUREG/CR-3395, Influence of Cover Defects	November	http://www.osti.gov/scitech/servlets/purl/541		
23	on the Attenuation of Radon with Earthen	1983	<u>1352</u>		
	Covers	1000			
	NUREG/CR-3533, Radon Attenuation		http://static1.squarespace.com/static/562e7c		
24	Handbook for Uranium Mill Tailings Cover	April 1984	efe4b0b5cbdd53eb74/t/56cb81bba3360c04		
	Design		a13b9fd9/1456177603277/NUREGCR-		
			<u>3533.pdf</u>		
25	NUREG/CR-4370, Vol. 2, Update of Part 61	January	http://pbadupws.nrc.gov/docs/ML1002/ML10		
	Impacts Analysis Methodology	1986	<u>0250917.pdf</u>		
00	NUREG/CR-5453, Performance Assessment	February	http://www.osti.gov/scitecn/serviets/puri//11		
20	Handbook for Low-Level Radioactive Waste	1992	<u>15121</u>		
	Disposal Facilities		http://static1.com/static/500.7c		
	NUREG/CR-5615, LOW-Level Radioactive	Nevenber	nilp://static1.squarespace.com/static/562e7c		
27	wasie Disposal Facility Closure	1000	<u>ele40005c00055e074/056c06210065419e7c</u>		
		1990	<u>5615 pdf</u>		
	NUPEC/CP 5027 Vol 1 Evolution of a		bttp://phadupwa.pro.gov/doog/ML1102/ML11		
	Performance Assessment Methodology for	August	0380388 pdf		
28	Low Level Padipactive Maste Disposal	1003	<u>0300308.pdf</u>		
	Ecolities: Evaluation of Modeling Approaches	1995			
	NUPEC/CD 6205 PLT EC (Proach Looch		http://digital.librory.upt.adu/ark:/67521/mated		
	Transport and Equilibrium Chemistry) a		c610413/m2/1/bigh_ros_d/108216.pdf		
20	Finite Element Model for Assessing the	August	<u>co19413/m2/1/mgn res u/100210.pur</u>		
29	Palease of Padionuclides from Low Level	1995			
	Maste Disposal Units				
	NUDECICE 6346 Hudrologic Evoluction		http://www.pro.gov/rooding.rm/doo		
	Methodology for Estimating Water Movement	lanuary	collections/nuregs/contract/or6346/or6246 p		
30	Through the Unsaturated Zone at	1006	df		
	Commercial Low-Level Padipactive Maste	1990	<u>~</u>		
1		1			

No.	Title	Date	Link		
Dispo	Disposal				
	Disposal Sites				
31	NUREG/CR-6567, Low-Level Radioactive Waste Classification, Characterization, and Assessment: Waste Streams and Neutron- Activated Metals	August 2000	http://www.nrc.gov/docs/ML0037/ML003752 437.pdf		
32	NUREG/CR-6805, A Comprehensive Strategy of Hydrogeologic Modeling and Uncertainty Analysis for Nuclear Facilities and Sites	July 2003	http://www.nrc.gov/docs/ML0324/ML032470 827.pdf		
33	NUREG/CR-6825, Literature Review and Assessment of Plant and Animal Transfer Factors used in Performance Assessment Modeling	August 2003	http://www.nrc.gov/docs/ML0326/ML032680 646.pdf		
34	NUREG/CR-6941, Soil-to-Plant Concentration Ratios for Assessing Food- Chain Pathways in Biosphere Models	August 2007	http://www.nrc.gov/docs/ML0727/ML072780 220.pdf		
35	NUREG/CR-7025, Radionuclide Release from Slag and Concrete Waste Materials: Part 1: Conceptual Models of Leaching from Complex Materials and Laboratory Test Methods	December 2010	http://www.nrc.gov/docs/ML1035/ML103550 580.pdf		
36	NUREG/CR-7028, Engineered Covers for Waste Containment: Changes in Engineering Properties and Implications for Long-Term Performance Assessment	December 2011	http://www.nrc.gov/reading-rm/doc- collections/nuregs/contract/cr7028/		
37	Regulatory Guide 3.64, Calculation of Radon Flux Attenuation by Earthen Uranium Mill Tailings Covers	June 1989	http://www.nrc.gov/docs/ML0037/ML003739 876.pdf		
38	Regulatory Guide 4.15, Rev. 2, Quality Assurance for Radiological Monitoring Programs (Inception through Normal Operations to License Termination) - Effluent Streams and the Environment	July 2007	http://www.nrc.gov/docs/ML0717/ML071790 506.pdf		
39	Regulatory Guide 4.18, Standard Format and Content of Environmental Reports for Near- Surface Disposal of Radioactive Waste	June 1983	http://www.nrc.gov/docs/ML0037/ML003739 515.pdf		
40	Regulatory Guide 4.19, <i>Guidance for</i> Selecting Sites for Near-Surface Disposal of Low-Level Radioactive Waste	August 1988	http://www.nrc.gov/docs/ML0037/ML003739 520.pdf		
41	SECY-12-0003, Draft Final Policy Statement on Volume Reduction and Low-Level Radioactive Waste Management	January 2012	http://www.nrc.gov/reading-rm/doc- collections/commission/secys/2012/2012- 0003scy.pdf		
42	Technical Analysis Supporting Definition of Period of Performance for Low-Level Waste Disposal	2011	http://www.nrc.gov/docs/ML1110/ML111030 586.pdf		
43	RIS 2015-02, Reporting of H-3, C-14, Tc-99, and I-129 on the Uniform Waste Manifest	February 2015	http://www.nrc.gov/docs/ML1427/ML14272A 217.pdf		
Blend	ing				
44	SECY-10-0043, Blending of Low-Level Radioactive Waste	April 2010	http://www.nrc.gov/reading-rm/doc- collections/commission/secys/2010/secy201 0-0043/2010-0043scy.pdf		
45	Final Waste Classification and Waste Form Technical Position Papers	May 1983	http://www.nrc.gov/docs/ML0336/ML033630 755.pdf		
46	Concentration Averaging and Encapsulation Branch Technical Position	February 2015	http://www.nrc.gov/waste/llw-disposal/llw- pa/llw-btp.html		
47	FSME-11-024, Summary of Existing Guidance for Reviewing Large-Scale Low-	March 2011	http://www.nrc.gov/docs/ML1104/ML110480 839.pdf		

No.	Title	Date	Link
Disposal			
	Level Radioactive Waste Blending Proposals		

13.3 Historical Very Low Level Waste Documentation

- NRC letter to all Agreement States, "Clarification of the Authorization for Alternate Disposal of Material Issued Under 10 CFR 20.2002 and Exemption Provisions In 10 CFR (FSME-12-025)." March 13, 2012. (ADAMS Accession No. ML12065A038)
- 2. SECY-16-0118, "Programmatic Assessment of LLRW Regulatory Program," October 11, 2016. (ML15208A305)
- 3. NRC Regulatory Issue Summary 2016-11, "Requests To Dispose Of Very Low-Level Radioactive Waste Pursuant To 10 CFR 20.2002," November 13, 2016. (ML16007A488)
- SECY-06-0056, "Improving Transparency in the 10 CFR 20.2002 Process," and Staff Requirements Memoranda (SRM), March 9, 2006 and March 31, 2006. <u>https://www.nrc.gov/reading-rm/doc-collections/commission/secys/2006/</u> <u>https://www.nrc.gov/reading-rm/doc-collections/commission/srm/2006/</u>
- 5. SECY-07-0060, "Basis and Justification for Approval Process for 10 CFR 20.2002 Authorizations and Options for Change," and SRM, March 27, 2007 and April 24, 2007. <u>https://www.nrc.gov/reading-rm/doc-collections/commission/secys/2007/</u> <u>https://www.nrc.gov/reading-rm/doc-collections/commission/srm/2007/</u>
- SECY-00-0201, "Proposed Rule 10 CFR Part 40 Amendments to Require NRC Approval for Transfer from Licensees to Exempt Persons," and SRM, September 25, 2000 and March 29, 2002. https://www.nrc.gov/reading-rm/doc-collections/commission/secys/2000/

https://www.nrc.gov/reading-rm/doc-collections/commission/secys/2000/ https://www.nrc.gov/reading-rm/doc-collections/commission/srm/2000/

- 7. 79 FRN 27772, "Low Level Radioactive Waste Regulatory Program" (NRC update on the 2007 Low-Level Waste Program Strategic Assessment)
- 8. SECY-07-0180, "Strategic Assessment of Low-Level Radioactive Waste Regulatory Program," October 17, 2007. (ML071350291)
- 9. "Waste Form Technical Position, Rev. 1," January 24, 1991. (ADAMS Accession No. ML033630746)
- 10. "Final Waste Classification and Final Form Technical Position Papers," May 11, 1983. (ADAMS Accession No. ML033630746)
- 11. SECY-05-0054, "Proposed Rule: Radiological Criteria for Controlling the Disposition of Solid Materials," and SRM. March 31, 2005 and June 1, 2005. <u>https://www.nrc.gov/reading-rm/doc-collections/commission/secys/2005/</u> <u>https://www.nrc.gov/reading-rm/doc-collections/commission/srm/2005/</u>
- NUREG/CR-6682, "Summary and Categorization of Public Comments on Controlling the Disposition of Solid Materials," and Supplement 1. September 2000 and March 2004. (ADAMS Accession Nos. ML003754410 and ML040720691)
- 13. NUREG-1640, "Radiological Assessments for Clearance of Materials from Nuclear Facilities," June 2003. <u>https://www.nrc.gov/reading-rm/doc-collections/nuregs/staff/sr1640/</u>
- 14. NUREG-1717, "Systematic Radiological Assessment of Exemptions for Source and Byproduct Materials." June 2001. <u>https://www.nrc.gov/reading-rm/doc-</u> <u>collections/nuregs/staff/sr1717/</u>
- 15. "Statement of Principles and Policy for the Agreement State Program; Policy Statement on Adequacy and Compatibility of Agreement State Programs;" (62 FR 46517), September 3, 1997.
- 16. SECY-1994-198: "Review of Existing Guidance Concerning the Extended Storage of Low-

Level Radioactive Waste" (ADAMS Accession No. ML071640462).

- 17. Regulatory Information Summary (RIS) 2011-09, "Resources Associated With Extended Storage of Low-Level Radioactive Waste," (ADAMS Accession No. ML111520042).
- 18. Inspection Procedure (IP) 83890, "Closeout Inspection and Survey." <u>https://www.nrc.gov/reading-rm/doc-collections/insp-manual/inspection-procedure/ip83890.pdf</u>
- 19. IP 84100, "Special Nuclear Material Inspections At Near-Surface Low-Level Waste Disposal Facilities in Agreement States." <u>https://www.nrc.gov/reading-rm/doc-collections/insp-manual/inspection-procedure/ip84100.pdf</u>
- 20. IP 84850, "Inspection of Waste Generator Requirements of 10 CFR Part 20 and 10 CFR Part 61." (ADAMS Accession No. ML080720528)
- 21. IP 84900, "Low-Level Waste Storage." (ADAMS Accession No. ML080710243)

13.4 Other References

- 1. Management Directive 6.5, "NRC Participation in the Development and Use of Consensus Standards," October 28, 2016. (ADAMS Accession No. ML16193A497)
- Barr, C., D. Schmidt, and S. Sherbini, 2010, "Development of Site-Specific Shielding Factors for Use in Radiological Risk Assessments," Waste Management Conference, Phoenix, AZ, March 7–11. (ADAMS Accession No. ML092230716)
- 3. NRC NRR Office instruction LIC-101, Revision 5, "License Amendment Review Procedures" (ADAMS Accession No. ML16061A451), January 16, 2017. (*10 CFR Part 50 licensees*)
- 4. NRC NRR Office instruction LIC-109, Revision 2, "Acceptance Review Procedures" (ADAMS Accession No. ML16144A521), January 16, 2017. (*10 CFR Part 50 licensees*)
- 5. NRC NRR Office instruction LIC-103, Revision 1, "Exemptions From NRC Regulations" (ADAMS Accession No. ML052590073), July 6, 2006. (*10 CFR Part 50 licensees*)
- 6. NRC NRR Office instruction LIC-201, Revision 3, "NRR Support to the Hearing Process" (ADAMS Accession No. ML080730530), March 31, 2008. (*10 CFR Part 50 licensees*)
- 7. NRC Temporary Instruction 2800/043, "Inspection Of Facilities Potentially Contaminated With Discrete Radium-226 Sources." (ADAMS Accession No. ML16035A053)
- NRC Letter to Mr. Bradley A. Okoniewski, Manager, Safety, Health and Environmental Programs, Cabot Corporation, From Gary S. Janosko, Chief, Fuel Cycle Facilities Branch, Division of Fuel Cycle Safety and Safeguards, Office of NMSS, "Amendment of Source Materials License No. SMB-920 For Cabot Corporation's Boyertown, Pennsylvania Facility, to Allow Recycling of Filtercake at a Cement Kiln (TAC LU0072)," July 2005. (ADAMS Accession No. ML052090393)
- NRC Letter to, Mr. D. Kosmider, Plant Manager, Allied-Signal, Inc., From John W.N. Hickey, Chief, Fuel Cycle Safety Branch, Division of Industrial and Medical Nuclear Safety, NMSS, Amendment to the Allied-Signal Materials License, January 1992. (ADAMS Accession No. ML060320608)
- NRC Letter to John Kinneman, Director, Division of Nuclear Materials Safety, Region I, from Christepher McKenney, Performance Assessment Branch, Division Waste Management Environmental Programs, Office of Federal and State Materials and Environmental Management Programs, "Acceptance of U.S. Army, Aberdeen Proving Ground Request to Transport DU-Contaminated Soil to U.S. Ecology Idaho, Inc., Under the Provisions of 10 CFR 40.13, 'Unimportant Quantities of source Material,'" September 2010. (ADAMS Accession No. ML102500437)
- 11. NRC Memorandum to Raymond K. Lorson, Director of Nuclear Materials Safety Region I, From, Andrew Persinko, DWMEP, FSME, "Response to Technical Assistance Request, Dated November 30, 2011, for the Review of a 20.2001 Exemption Request for the Disposal

of Lamps Containing Kr-85 from Light Sources Inc. to a Recycling Center as Non-Radioactive Waste", March 2012. (ADAMS Accession No. ML120720383)

- 12. NRC Chairman letter to Congressmen John D. Dingell, Ron Klink, and Edward J. Markey, dated January 7, 2000 (ADAMS Accession No. ML003677379).
- 13. NRC Chairman letter to Congressmen John D. Dingell, Ron Klink, and Edward J. Markey, dated December 20, 1999 (ADAMS Accession No. ML003670368).
- 14. NRC Chairman letter to Congressmen John D. Dingell, Ron Klink, and Edward J. Markey, dated November 15, 1999. (ADAMS Accession No. ML003670097)
- 15. International Atomic Energy Agency, 2011, "Assessment of the Radiological Impact of the Recycling and Disposal of Light Bulbs Containing Tritium, Krypton-85, and Radioisotopes of Thorium" (Jones, et al., 2011).
- NMSS Administrative Policy & Procedure 1-9, "Administrative and Technical Review of Applications and Annual Reports for Exempt Distribution Licenses," Rev. 3. July 2017. (non-public; ADAMS Accession No. ML17173A034)
- 17. FSME Policy and Procedures 6-9, Revision 2, "FSME Staff Support of the Hearing Process in 10 CFR Part 2." August 20, 2008. (non-public; ADAMS Accession No. ML082261374)
- 18. SECY-98-144, "White Paper on Risk-Informed and Performance-Based Regulation," and SRM. June 22, 1998 and March 1, 1999. <u>https://www.nrc.gov/reading-rm/doc-collections/commission/secys/1998/secy1998-144/1998-144scy.pdf</u>

```
https://www.nrc.gov/reading-rm/doc-collections/commission/srm/1998/1998-144srm.pdf
```

19. SECY-99-100, "Framework for Risk-Informed Regulation in the Office of Nuclear Material Safety and Safeguards," and SRM. March 31, 1999 and June 28, 1999. <u>https://www.nrc.gov/reading-rm/doc-collections/commission/secys/1999/secy1999-100/1999-100scy.pdf</u>

https://www.nrc.gov/reading-rm/doc-collections/commission/srm/1999/1999-100srm.pdf

- 20. SECY-11-0024, "Use of Risk Insights to Enhance the Safety Focus of Small Modular Reactor Reviews," and SRM. February 18, 2011 and May 11, 2011. <u>https://www.nrc.gov/reading-rm/doc-collections/commission/secys/2011/2011-0024scy.pdf</u> <u>https://www.nrc.gov/reading-rm/doc-collections/commission/srm/2011/2011-0024srm.pdf</u>
- 21. NUREG-1520, Rev. 2, "Standard Review Plan for Fuel Cycle Facilities License Applications," June 2015. (ADAMS Accession No. ML15176A258)
- 22. NUREG-0800, "Standard Review Plan for the Review of Safety Analysis Reports for Nuclear Power Plants: LWR Edition" (multiple dates). <u>https://www.nrc.gov/reading-rm/doc-</u> <u>collections/nuregs/staff/sr0800/</u>
- 23. SECY-03-0069, "Results of the License Termination Rule Analysis," Attachment 4, "Results of Evaluation for Relationship Between LTR And On-Site Disposal Under 10 CFR 20.2002" and SRM. May 2, 2003 and November 17, 2003. https://www.nrc.gov/reading-rm/doc-collections/commission/secys/2003/secy2003-0069/2003-0069scy.pdf#pagemode=bookmarks https://www.nrc.gov/reading-rm/doc-collections/commission/srm/2003/2003-0069srm.pdf
- 24. SECY-92-303, "Metrication Policy," and SRM, September 1, 1992 and September 25, 1992. (ADAMS Accession Nos. ML12152A210 and ML003766212)
- 25. Policy and Guidance Directive 8-10, "Disposal of Incinerator Ash as Ordinary Waste." January 7, 1997. (ADAMS Accession No. ML003744979)